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SALMAT LIMITED 

(ABN 11 002 724 638) 
Appendix 4E 

FULL-YEAR REPORT 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 
Results for announcement to the market 

Year ended 

30-Jun-19

$m

Year ended 

30-Jun-18

$m

% Change 

Increase / 

(Decrease)

Total revenue 251.0 250.2 0.3% 
Underlying earnings before interest, income tax, 
deprecia�on and amor�sa�on from con�nuing 
opera�ons (Underlying EBITDA)  1 

19.0 20.3 -6.4%

Underlying profit a�er income tax for the period 
a�ributable to members from con�nuing opera�ons  1 

12.1 11.4 6.1% 

Statutory loss a�er income tax for the period 
a�ributable to members from con�nuing opera�ons 

(26.0) (5.2) 400.0% 

Net tangible asset backing $0.38 $0.37 2.7% 
Fully franked dividends 
Interim dividend - paid 18 April 2018 - $0.01cps 
Special dividend - paid 5 July 2018 - $0.08cps 
Final dividend - paid 4 October 2018 - $0.02cps 
Interim dividend - paid 28 March 2019 $0.01cps - 

Explanation of results 

Refer to the a�ached ASX announcement for commentary on the results. 

The informa�on contained in this report is to be read in conjunc�on with the 2019 Annual Report and any announcements 
to the market by Salmat Limited during the period. 

1 Adjusted for significant items, refer to note 1.3 in the notes to the financial statements for the significant items included                     
in the Underlying Net Profit A�er Tax for the year. For FY19 significant items included restructuring costs, colla�on proof of                    
concept, industry review costs, impairment of investment in joint venture, impairment of joint venture IT assets, and                 
impairment of goodwill. For FY18 significant items included restructuring costs and impairment of goodwill. 
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Directors' report 

Your Directors present their report on the consolidated en�ty (referred to herea�er as the Group) consis�ng of Salmat 
Limited and the en��es it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2019. 

Directors 

The following persons were Directors of Salmat Limited during the financial year and up to the date of this report: 

Peter Ma�ck (Chairman) 
Stuart Nash 
Bart Vogel 
Mark Webster 

Operating and financial review 

The Board presents the FY19 Opera�ng and Financial Review, which has been designed to provide shareholders with a clear 
and concise overview of the Group’s opera�ons, financial posi�on, business strategies and prospects. The review also 
provides contextual informa�on, including the impact of key events that have occurred during FY19 and material business 
risks faced by the business so that shareholders can make an informed assessment of the results and prospects of the 
Group.  

1. Salmat’s operations

Principal activities 

Salmat is a marke�ng services provider. We help clients connect with their customers, week-in, week-out. Salmat's unique 
combina�on of targeted le�erbox and online channels enables clients to effec�vely Reach, Convert and Serve their 
customers, improving business performance.  

Salmat deploys these key competences across two business segments: 

a) The Marke�ng Solu�ons segment delivers relevant, targeted and integrated communica�ons across all digital and
tradi�onal channels. Salmat’s solu�ons enable clients to interact and engage with their customers through na�onal
le�erbox distribu�on, digital catalogues, pre-shopping website Lasoo, e-commerce, search (SEO, SEM and display
adver�sing) and email.

b) The Managed Services segment provides outsourced business solu�ons - including back-office processes and digital
crea�ve, development services and contact centre services - which are provided via an innova�ve range of managed
service delivery models.
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Key developments 

Key developments during FY19 included: 

● The separa�on of the Contact Centre business sold in May 2018 was completed by the end of the financial year
with a loss of $1.8m reported in FY19 that primarily relates to execu�ve and senior employees retained to manage
the separa�on. The separa�on is now complete and these employees have le� the business.

● The Board assessed a number of op�ons aimed at addressing sustainability in the catalogue distribu�on network.
At the end of the financial year these op�ons are s�ll being assessed by the Board.

● The Colla�on proof of concept was launched during the financial year as one of a number of innova�on projects
that were highlighted in the strategic review. The trial has been successful to date with posi�ve results being
returned on key measures in the distribu�on network.

● The Philippines-based MicroSourcing business con�nued to perform strongly, with further growth in both revenue
and EBITDA. Investment was made in FY19 in two new facili�es to set the business up for future growth.

● The Board was pleased to pay three fully franked dividends in FY19, including the payment of a special dividend in
July 2018 , final dividend in October 2018 and interim dividend in April 2019.

● Salmat ended the year with a net cash posi�on of $58.6 million.
● The Group maintained its strong opera�ng cash flows before tax of $17.5 million for the year.

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of Salmat Limited that occurred 
during the year under review, that were not otherwise disclosed in this report or the financial statements. 

2019 Operating result summary 

$ million 2019 2018 % change (pcp)

Total revenue 251.0 250.2 0.3% 
Underlying EBITDA 1 19.0 20.3 -6.4%

Deprecia�on (3.5) (5.1) -31.4%
Underlying EBITA 1 15.5 15.2 2.0%

Amor�sa�on (1.3) (1.1) 18.2% 
Underlying EBIT 1 14.2 14.1 0.7% 

Net interest 0.7 (0.4) NMF 
Tax expense (2.8) (2.3) 21.7% 
Underlying NPAT 1  from Continuing Operations 12.1 11.4 6.1% 

Significant items (sec�on 1.3) (38.1) (16.6) 129.5% 
NLAT from Continuing Operations (26.0) (5.2) 400.0%

1 Adjusted for significant items, refer to note 1.3 in the notes to the financial statements for the significant items included in the Underlying Net Profit                          
A�er Tax for the year. For FY19 significant items included restructuring costs, colla�on proof of concept, industry review costs, impairment of investment                      
in joint venture, impairment of joint venture IT assets, and impairment of goodwill. For FY18 significant items included restructuring costs and impairment                      
of goodwill. 
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Revenue  from Con�nuing Opera�ons of $251.0 million (FY18: $250.2m) was an improvement on the prior year due to both 
new business and increased spend by exis�ng customers.  FY19 revenue performance was adversely impacted by the 
introduc�on of a new accoun�ng standard -  AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  - which reduced Marke�ng 
Solu�ons revenue by $7.9 million.  Overall the Managed Services segment performed well whilst Marke�ng Solu�ons 
con�nued to face industry challenges.  Despite those challenges there were a pleasing number of new business wins 
throughout the year.  

Underlying EBITDA  from con�nuing opera�ons of $19.0 million (2018: $20.3m)   was lower than the prior year by $1.3 million. 
Managed Services EBITDA had growth in line with revenue whilst Marke�ng Solu�ons EBITDA declined due to the increasing 
cost of delivery and con�nued challenges encountered by the digital business. 

The  business portfolio  sec�on in the notes to the consolidated financial statements contains disclosure for Discon�nued 
Opera�ons. The loss a�er tax from Discon�nued Opera�ons was $1.8 million of separa�on costs rela�ng to the sale of the 
Contact Centre business in FY18. 

Underlying net profit after income tax  from Con�nuing Opera�ons of $12.1 million was higher than the prior year (FY18: 
$11.4m). Deprecia�on expense was lower as the Group has reduced IT asset purchases in recent years whilst adop�ng 
‘Cloud’ and ‘SaaS’ based solu�ons. A posi�ve net interest balance was the result of low debt levels and cash holdings in FY19. 

There were $38.1 million of  significant items  in FY19 (FY18: $16.6m). Significant items included restructuring costs of $0.7 
million; industry review fees of $0.7 million as the Group looked at poten�al op�ons available to the catalogue industry; 
colla�on proof-of-concept costs of $0.8 million for the NSW trial being conducted; and impairment of $35.9 million 
detailed below.  

The catalogue market faced a challenging year through con�nued compe��ve pricing pressure and volume decline in the 
Austalian and New Zealand markets. An impairment expense was recognised on the Marke�ng Solu�ons CGU of $32.5 
million. The investment and related party loan held in rela�on to Reach Media were impaired in FY19, resul�ng in a $2.7 
million impairment. Addi�onally, Reach Media’s result included an IT asset write off in the joint venture loss of $0.6 million. 

Net loss after tax  from con�nuing opera�ons for the year was $26.0 million (FY18: loss of $5.2m). 

Segment results 

Marketing Solutions 
Marke�ng Solu�ons revenue of $162.4 million (FY18: $176.9m) was lower than the prior year as a result of a 2.6% decline in 
catalogue volumes in line with recent years and AASB 15 contribu�ng $7.9 million.  Print services had a posi�ve year with 
double digit growth however this was offset somewhat by challenges within e-commerce and with client reten�on in the 
digital business.  

Underlying EBITDA of $10.2 million (FY18: $16.6m) was lower than the prior year. The EBITDA result was driven by increases 
in catalogue weight and reduced volumes across the distribu�on network pu�ng downward pressure on margins. The Reach 
Media loss in New Zealand of $0.2 million (FY18: profit of $0.4m) also impacted the segment result.  

Managed Services 
Managed Services revenue of $87.8 million (FY18: $72.8m) was an improvement compared to the prior year and con�nues 
to grow in line with the business plan. New business growth of $4.1 million was added in FY19 with a number of mid-sized 
and smaller clients joining MicroSourcing. Growth in the exis�ng client base was evenly spread this year, across both larger 
and smaller clients, and con�nues to be a strength for MicroSourcing.  
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Underlying EBITDA of $13.4 million (FY18: $10.5m) was also an improvement when compared to the prior year. 
MicroSourcing invested in new facili�es during the year to service capacity constraints, plus addi�onal marke�ng investment 
as they target new clients online. The investment in facili�es and marke�ng has seen a reduc�on in margin for the second 
half of the year that is expected to improve in FY20. 

Corporate 
Corporate costs of $4.5 million (FY18: $6.8m) were lower than the prior year. Execu�ve, Board and advisory costs have 
decreased in FY19 in line with the reduced business size post the sale of the Contact business. 

2. Financial position and cash flows

The Group ended the year with a decrease in net assets of $31.9 million. Cash at the end of the year was $59.2 million (FY18: 
$79.1m) including dividend payments of $22.0 million. 

Current assets and liabili�es were lower in FY19 with a con�nued focus on working capital and is reflected in the improved 
opera�ng cash result. Bad debts have remained consistent with the prior year with the excep�on of a MicroSourcing debt of 
$0.6 million that was wri�en off in the second half. 

Property, plant and equipment has increased as the Group invested in colla�on machinery in NSW and facili�es across the 
Group.  Deprecia�on has reduced in FY19 as a number of IT assets were fully wri�en down at the end of FY18.  

The Board has approved a $32.5 million impairment of goodwill in the Marke�ng Solu�ons cash genera�ng unit due to the                    
long term view of market condi�ons in the catalogue business and con�nuous shi�s in market share. Contracts between                  
the two major suppliers of catalogue distribu�on con�nue to change combined with long term volume declines.

The increase in non-current liabili�es this year is due to MicroSouring customer deposits increasing as new customers join 
the business.  

Opera�ng cash inflows before tax of $17.5 million were higher than the prior year (FY18: $14.7m) as a result of improved 
working capital post separa�on of the Contact business. Tax payments reduced in FY19 on disposal of the overseas’ 
opera�ons that related to the Contact business. Payments for property plant and equipment were for colla�on machinery 
and facili�es investment whilst the cash ou�low to separate the Contact business was $7.2 million in FY19 and are not 
expected to con�nue.  

3. Business strategies and risks

Business strategies 

Salmat’s core business strategy is to be the leading Australian marke�ng partner, enabling our clients to understand and 
successfully reach all Australian consumers with targeted, data-driven communica�ons. 

Consumers are able to access more informa�on, from more sources, than ever before. Brands are no longer able to rely on a 
single medium to engage with consumers, who are demanding engagement on their terms, across mul�ple channels. By 
combining the physical and digital assets, Salmat is uniquely posi�oned to enable its clients to distribute more engaging 
content enabling  our clients to cost effec�vely reach and influence their customers and maximise their sales and return on 
investment. 

During the financial year the Group con�nued to pursue strategic priori�es centred on the four key pillars of Marke�ng 
Solu�ons Evolu�on, Sales Excellence, Opera�onal Sustainability and People. Specific ini�a�ves for FY19 included con�nued 
development of the salmathub app for catalogue distribu�on; commencement of an automated catalogue colla�on trial; 
accelera�on of Salmat’s data insights program; and investment in new facili�es and website for the MicroSourcing business. 
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Business risks 

Salmat is commi�ed to embedding risk management prac�ces in a manner that supports achieving its strategic objec�ves. 
Risk management is carried out in accordance with policies approved by the Board as described in the Corporate Governance 
statement. Salmat has established a management-led Risk Management Commi�ee that directs the implementa�on and 
opera�on of an appropriate risk management framework and culture.   Salmat’s profitability is directly related to the 
economic environment, par�cularly the Australian retail sector. The main risks affec�ng Salmat include opera�onal risks 
associated with the reliance on a large number of independent contractors and the sustainability of this network,  numerous 
technology applica�ons in addi�on to key regulatory risks, external factors and financial risks. 

Operational 
Salmat relies on a large number of independent contractors within the Marke�ng Solu�ons business to distribute catalogues. 
In line with Salmat's ISO quality accredita�on there is ongoing con�nual improvement to ensure processes are standardised 
and consistent to comply with labour, contractor and health and safety laws.

Technology applications 
Salmat is supported by applica�ons, technology and services that have undergone a significant refresh over the last few 
years. A key factor in the evolu�on of these technology services has been a focus on improving cyber security to keep in step 
with the changing regulatory environment and the cri�cal importance of customer data.  Cloud service providers with a 
primary focus on security have been selected.   Salmat has technology security policies in place to ensure informa�on 
managed is secure from destruc�on, corrup�on, unauthorised access and breach of confiden�ality whether uninten�onal or 
malicious.  In order to deliver on customer contractual commitments, system availability is constantly monitored, in addi�on 
to opera�onal KPI performance, to ensure there is con�nued customer sa�sfac�on and adequate service levels. 

Regulatory and compliance 
Salmat is commi�ed to crea�ng a culture of compliance and takes its compliance obliga�ons very seriously. Salmat has 
documented policies and procedures relevant to its material compliance obliga�ons and these are supported by mandatory 
annual compliance training undertaken by all Salmat employees.  

Salmat must comply with a broad range of state and federal legisla�ve and regulatory requirements applicable to its business 
but the primary legisla�on that affect the group includes:  the Corpora�ons Act, the Privacy Act, the Compe��on and 
Consumer Act, the SPAM Act, the Do Not Call Register, the Fair Work Act, the Work Health & Safety Act and the Independent 
Contractors Act.  Salmat has a compliance framework in place to ensure ongoing compliance monitoring, measurement and 
repor�ng.  

External factors - Economic environment & competition 
Salmat’s sales volumes and therefore its profitability are directly related to the level of retail sales achieved by our clients 
par�cularly in the Marke�ng Solu�ons business. Salmat endeavours to mi�gate reliance on major retailers and diversify its 
customer base through other industry ver�cals such as government, telecommunica�ons, financial and health sectors in 
addi�on to targe�ng small and medium enterprises. The company also monitors economic, market and industry trends to 
iden�fy poten�al opportuni�es for growth.  

There is a very limited number of large �er players in the catalogue distribu�on market, which has led to a very compe��ve 
market place, and therefore to remain compe��ve Salmat’s value proposi�on to its customers includes access to a variety of 
delivery and quality metrics across the network at any given �me and geographic loca�on.  

The Managed Services business based in the Philippines is directly impacted by changes to policy that may occur from �me 
to �me in that region. The Group manages the risk by ensuring full compliance and disclosure with local laws and filings and 
staying educated about proposed changes as they are announced.  



9  |  Salmat  Annual Report 2019 

Salmat Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2019 

Financial risks 
Given a large propor�on of Salmat’s customer base are retailers, the company manages credit risk via strict credit policies 
and procedures. There are a number of preventa�ve and detec�ve controls and monitoring ac�vi�es   in place to mi�gate 
financial risks.  

Dividends - Salmat Limited 

Due to the statutory loss arising from the impairment of goodwill in FY19, Salmat is unable to pay a fully franked final                      
dividend.  

Performance indicators 

Management and the Board monitor the Group's overall performance, from its implementa�on of the strategic plan through 
to the performance of the Group against opera�ng plans and financial budgets. 

The Board, together with management, have iden�fied key performance indicators (KPIs) that are used to monitor the 
Group’s performance.  Directors receive repor�ng on the cri�cal KPIs for review prior to each Board mee�ng allowing all 
Directors to ac�vely monitor the Group’s performance. 

Environmental issues 

The Group is commi�ed to the protec�on of the environment, to the health and safety of its employees, contractors, 
customers and the public at large, and to the compliance with all applicable environmental laws, rules and regula�ons in the 
jurisdic�ons in which it conducts its business. The Group is not subject to significant environmental regula�on in respect of 
its opera�ons.  The Group has set down a rigorous approach to sourcing and working with suppliers that comply with our 
environmental criteria. 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 

No ma�er or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect: 
a. the Group's opera�ons in future financial years, or
b. the results of those opera�ons in future financial years, or
c. the Group's state of affairs in future financial years.
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Information on Directors 

Peter Mattick, AM 
Chairman 

Experience and expertise 
Peter Ma�ck co-founded Salmat Limited in 1979 and served as its Joint Managing Director un�l his re�rement from 
execu�ve du�es with Salmat in October 2009. Since that �me Peter has remained as a Non-execu�ve Director of the 
company and assumed the role of Chairman in November 2013. 

Peter has served as Chairman and Director of the Australian Direct Marke�ng Associa�on. He is a Fellow of CPA Australia 
and the Australian Ins�tute of Company Directors and Chairman of The Shepherd Centre for profoundly deaf children. 
Peter was educated at the University of New South Wales where he gained a Bachelor of Commerce degree. Peter was 
awarded a Member (AM) in the General Division of the Order Of Australia in 2014. 

Special responsibilities 
Chairman of the Board;  
Member of Technology and Innova�on Commi�ee 

Interests in shares and options 
44,889,589 ordinary shares in Salmat Limited. 

Stuart Nash
Non-execu�ve Director (Independent) 

Experience and expertise 
Stuart is currently Chairman of Opteon Group Holdings – a na�onal property valua�on and advisory business. He is also 
Chairman of Australian Affordable Housing Securi�es Limited. Stuart’s execu�ve experience includes CEO/CFO roles in a 
large, privately owned consumer foods business and over 20 years in finance with global firms including Macquarie Capital 
and Barclay’s Capital, specialising in mergers and acquisi�ons, debt and equity capital markets and strategy. Stuart qualified 
as an accountant, holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) from Cambridge University and is a graduate of the Australian 
Ins�tute of Company Directors. 

Special responsibilities
Chairman of People Performance Commi�ee; 
Member of Technology and Innova�on Commi�ee; and 
Member of Audit, Risk and Compliance Commi�ee. 

Interests in shares and options 
7,992 ordinary shares in Salmat Limited. 
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Bart Vogel 
Non-execu�ve Director (Independent) 
 
Experience and expertise 
Bart is the Chairman of Infomedia Limited and Invocare Limited.  He is also a Non-execu�ve Director of Macquarie Telecom 
Limited, BAI Communica�ons and the Children’s Cancer Ins�tute Australia. Bart’s execu�ve career included more than 20 
years in management consul�ng as a partner with Bain & Co, A.T. Kearney and Deloi�e Consul�ng and more than ten years 
as a CEO in the technology industry for Asurion Australia, Lucent Technologies (Australia and Asia Pacific) and Computer 
Power Group. He is a Chartered Accountant with a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) and is a Fellow of the Australian 
Ins�tute of Company Directors. 
 
Special responsibilities 
Chairman of Audit, Risk and Compliance Commi�ee; 
Member of People Performance Commi�ee; and 
Member of the Technology and Innova�on Commi�ee. 
 
Interests in shares and options 
100,000 ordinary shares in Salmat Limited. 
 
 
Mark Webster 
Non-execu�ve Director (Independent) 
 

Experience and expertise 
Mark is presently Managing Director of the thoroughbred sales group, William Inglis and Son Limited and Chairman of Ardex 
Technology, a so�ware solu�ons company based in Sydney.  Mark has had extensive, hands-on experience in extending 
tradi�onal businesses into the online environment, both in the media industry and in his current role.  Mark has established 
the Inglis Digital division and introduced a number of innova�ons to extend the tradi�onal trading capability of that 
company. Mark has also served as Director on a number of Boards over the past 15 years, including  realestate.com.au  and 
Na�onwide News Limited where he was also general manager of The Daily and Sunday Telegraph and The Australian 
newspapers. 
 
Special responsibilities 
Chairman of Technology and Innova�on Commi�ee; 
Member of People Performance Commi�ee; and 
Member of Audit, Risk and Compliance Commi�ee. 
 

Interests in shares and options 
Nil ordinary shares in Salmat Limited. 
 
 
Company secretary 
 
The Company Secretary is Mr Stephen Bardwell. Mr Bardwell has been Company Secretary since October 2002. He has had                   
over 27 years in senior commercial roles, and joined the Company as Group Financial Controller in 1989, ac�vely                  
par�cipa�ng in the expansion and development of Salmat in both Australia and Asia. 
 
Prior to lis�ng of the Company, he had over ten years’ experience as Secretary of Salmat Group Companies. He has a                     
Bachelor’s degree in Accoun�ng and is a Fellow of the Ins�tute of Chartered Secretaries and CPA Australia. 
  
  

 

http://realestate.com.au/
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Meetings of Directors 
  
The numbers of mee�ngs of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board Commi�ee held during the year ended 30                     
June 2019, and the numbers of mee�ngs a�ended by each Director were: 
  

   Meetings of Committees 

  Full meeting of 
Directors 

Audit, Risk and 
Compliance 

People 
Performance  

Technology and 
Innovation 

 A B A B A B A B 

Peter Ma�ck 12 12 4* 4* 3* 3* 2 2 

Mark Webster 12 12 4 4 3 3 2 2 

Bart Vogel 12 12 4 4 3 3 2 2 

Stuart Nash 12 12 4 4 3 3 2 2 

  
A = Number of mee�ngs held during the �me the Director held office or was a member of the Commi�ee during the year.  
B = Number of mee�ngs a�ended. 
* A�ended by invita�on 
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Remuneration report 

  
The Board presents the FY19 Remunera�on Report for Salmat Limited (Salmat or the Group) in accordance with the                  
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its regula�ons. This report outlines key aspects of our remunera�on prac�ces                  
and remunera�on awarded this year. The remunera�on prac�ces are aligned with Salmat’s strategy of providing senior                
execu�ve rewards that drive and reflect the crea�on of shareholder value. The informa�on in this report has been audited,                   
unless otherwise stated. 
  

Section What it covers 

 1 Remuneration at a glance An overview of key remunera�on outcomes in FY19. 
  

2 Remuneration governance Details of the key management personnel (KMP) this report covers and how 
remunera�on is governed. 

3 Remuneration strategy, structure and 
framework 

Outlines our remunera�on policy and how it supports our strategic 
objec�ves and is focused on the long term strategy of Salmat, with a 
descrip�on of the key components of remunera�on. 

4 Fixed remuneration Detailed descrip�on of our fixed remunera�on policies. 
  

5 Short-term incentives Detailed descrip�on of our Short Term Incen�ve schemes (STI). 
  

6 Long-term incentives Detailed descrip�on of our Long Term Incen�ve schemes (LTI). 
  

7 Executive remuneration disclosures Disclosures by person of the remunera�on paid in the current and previous 
periods.  

8 Service agreements Summary of the key contract terms of KMP. 
  

9 Non-executive Director remuneration Details of Non-execu�ve Director remunera�on and relevant disclosures of 
remunera�on in the current and prior periods. 

10 Financial performance Informa�on on Salmat’s performance in key shareholder measures, and five 
year statutory financial informa�on. 
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1. Remuneration at a glance 
  
Remunera�on outcomes in FY19: 
  
Remuneration FY19 outcomes 

Fixed remuneration During the year where ac�ng roles were converted to permanent posi�ons a salary increase              
was awarded. Where permanent roles have con�nued, salary increases have been awarded in             
line with the Group’s annual merit review process.  

Short-term incentives STI was awarded to KMPs under the STI plan rules in FY19 due to the Group mee�ng 85% of                   
budgeted underlying EBITDA. The FY19 STI plan was approved by the Board with execu�ve              
management par�cipa�ng in STI. The FY19 STI plan included both financial and non-financial             
targets.  

Long-term incentives There was no issue of performance rights during the financial year.  
Non-executive Director 
fees 

The Board did not award increases in Non-execu�ve Director fees in FY19. The Non-execu�ve              
Directors’ remunera�on cap remains at $1.2m, as approved by shareholders at the 2009 AGM. 

 
 
2.     Remuneration governance 

  
Who this covers 
 
The Remunera�on Report sets out remunera�on informa�on for Salmat’s Non-execu�ve Directors (listed in the Directors’               
Report on page 4) and key management personnel (KMP). KMP are the Chief Execu�ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer                   
who are the key individuals who have, or had, authority and responsibility for planning, direc�ng and controlling the major                   
ac�vi�es of Salmat during the financial period and up to the date of this report. 
  
Name Title Status 

Rebecca Lowde Chief Execu�ve Officer (CEO) Full year 
Alex Panich 1 Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Full year 
 

1 Alex Panich was confirmed as CFO on 13 August 2018. 
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Remuneration governance framework 
  
The below represents Salmat’s remunera�on framework: 
 

 
 
 
*The charter adopted by the People Performance Commi�ee is displayed on the Salmat Limited website www.salmat.com.au. 
 
Use of remuneration consultants 
  
In the past the People Performance Commi�ee has retained independent advisers to assist with remunera�on issues. In                 
FY19, no recommenda�on was sought on aspects of remunera�on for KMP. 
 
Securities trading policy 
  
The Securi�es Trading Policy of Salmat outlines the responsibili�es of all key management personnel including Directors and                 
employees to ensure that any market sensi�ve informa�on whether about Salmat or any other Company is not used to trade                    
in securi�es. 
 
The trading of shares issued to par�cipants under any of Salmat’s employee equity plans is subject to, and condi�onal upon,                    
compliance with this policy. Senior execu�ves are prohibited from entering into any hedging arrangements over unvested                
rights or deferred shares issued under Salmat’s employee share plans. Salmat would consider any breach of this policy as                   
serious. 
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3. Remuneration strategy, structure and framework 
  
Salmat’s policy is to remunerate staff in accordance with market rates in alignment with the individual's du�es, 
responsibili�es and performance. 
 

 
 
The following table sets out a summary of each component of the remunera�on package for all KMP, including its purpose,                    
link to performance and key changes from last year. 
 

Component Performance measure Strategic objective and link to 
performance 

Change from FY18 

Fixed 
remuneration - 
Fixed 

When se�ng fixed 
remunera�on and considering 
external benchmarks the 
People Performance 
Commi�ee takes into account: 
● Group and individual 

performance; 
● Job size and complexity; 
● Individual’s qualifica�ons 

and experience; 
● Risk profile of the role; and 
● Internal rela�vi�es. 

To provide base salary and benefits 
which are compe��ve with those 
provided by companies of a similar size 
and level of complexity. 
  
To reward performance rela�ve to 
expecta�ons based on senior 
execu�ves’ job descrip�ons and scope 
of responsibility. 
  
To retain talented employees and to 
not encourage excessive risk taking. 

The fixed remunera�on of 
KMPs was set to reflect 
market rates. 
 
Where ac�ng roles have 
been confirmed the higher 
du�es allowance has been 
converted to base salary. 

STI – at risk STI performance criteria are 
set by reference to the Salmat 
budget informa�on (financial 
measures) and individual 
performance targets relevant 
to their specific posi�on 
(non-financial measures). 

STI awards objec�ves are as follows: 
● Financial measures (70%):  Group, 

or line of business profit measures 
of EBITDA and revenue. These are 
considered to deliver financial 
benefits to shareholders through 
growth in earnings. 

● Non- financial measures (30%): 
Individual KPI performance results 
relevant to the longer term growth 
strategy ini�a�ve of the Group. 

  
STIs are measured over a one year 
performance period and paid in cash. 

85% of Underlying Group 
EBITDA had to be achieved 
as compared to budget 
prior to any STI being paid 
across the Group in FY19. 
As the target of 85%  was 
achieved STI under this plan 
was awarded.  
  
For KMP, the split of FY19 
financial measures was 35% 
Group EBITDA and 35% 
Group Revenue. 
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Component Performance measure Strategic objective and link to 
performance 

Change from FY18 

LTI – at risk LTI targets are linked to 
internal growth measures (EPS 
and ROCE), and external 
rela�ve out performance 
measures (TSR) to align senior 
execu�ves with shareholder 
interests. 
  
  
  

LTI awards are designed to mo�vate 
senior execu�ves to achieve Salmat’s 
sustainable long term growth. 
  
The internal and external measures 
were chosen because: 
● EPS:  Deemed to be a direct measure 

of growth of Salmat’s earnings over 
the performance period. 

● ROCE:  An efficient use of working 
capital is key to maximising 
shareholder return in the medium 
term. 

● TSR:  Measure of the return 
generated for shareholders over the 
performance period rela�ve to a 
peer group of companies. 

  
LTIs are measured over a three-year 
performance period and delivered in 
equity.  

Consistent with FY18 no LTIs 
were issued to KMP during 
FY19. 

 
Target remuneration mix: 
  
The remunera�on strategy provides for a target remunera�on mix which links remunera�on outcomes to the execu�on                
of Salmat’s strategy over the short (1 year) and long term (3 years). The target remunera�on mix for current senior                    
execu�ves based on current contracts is shown below: 
  
 

  Percentage of total target remuneration 

  Fixed Remuneration STI cash - 1 year LTI Equity - 3 years 
CEO  72% 28% 0% 
CFO  78% 22% 0% 
 
 
Actual remuneration mix achieved: 
 
The actual remunera�on percentage achieved in FY19 for KMP is shown below:  
 
 
  Fixed remuneration At risk - STI actual At risk - LTI Actual 
%  FY19 FY18 FY19 FY18 FY19 FY18 
Current KMP        
Rebecca Lowde  79% 104% 21% 0% 0% -4% 
Alex Panich  82% 100% 18% 0% 0% 0% 
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4. Fixed remuneration 
  
Fixed remunera�on is structured as a total employment cost package which may be delivered as a combina�on of cash and                    
prescribed non-financial benefits such as health insurance and car allowances. Fixed remunera�on is reviewed annually, or                
on promo�on, to ensure the pay is compe��ve with the market. 
  
For KMP, superannua�on is included in fixed remunera�on. Re�rement benefit obliga�ons are delivered to the employee’s                
choice of superannua�on fund. Salmat has no ongoing interest or liability to the fund or the employee in respect of                    
re�rement benefits.  
 
 
5. Short term incentives 
  

Participants and 
description 

All KMP are eligible for par�cipa�on in the STI. The STI is the ‘at risk’ remunera�on component                 
subject to the achievement of pre-defined individual, Group and line of business performance             
hurdles which are set annually by the People Performance Commi�ee at the beginning of the               
financial year. The purpose of the STI is to recognise and reward the contribu�ons that               
individuals make to the overall success of Salmat. 

Performance measures The STI metrics align with the Group’s strategic priori�es to a�ract and retain talented 
individuals, focus on driving profitable revenue growth and encourage collabora�on and team 
work across the business through shared goals. 
  
Metric Target Weigh�ng Reason for selec�on 

EBITDA FY19 budget 35% Reflects focus on growing the business 
in a targeted and profitable manner. 

Revenue FY19 budget 35% Reten�on and growth of customer 
base, and increasing market share. 

Individual 
performance 
metrics 

Specific to 
individuals 

30% Targeted metrics have been chosen 
that are cri�cal to individual roles. 
  

 

Timing and delivery The measures are assessed immediately prior to the release of Salmat’s financial statements in              
August.  The payments are made in the form of cash, and will be paid in September. 

Assessment of hurdles The People Performance Commi�ee is responsible for assessing whether the KPIs of KMP are              
met. 
  
The Board has final discre�on to adjust remunera�on to prevent any inappropriate reward             
outcomes. 

Performance and impact 
on variable remuneration 

Based on the final results of the Group an STI payment has been approved by the Board. 
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6. Long term incentives 
  

Participants and description KMP are eligible for par�cipa�on in the LTI scheme if a grant is approved by the Board.                 
The LTI is an ‘at risk’ remunera�on component subject to the achievement of predefined              
performance hurdles for a three year period which are set by the People Performance              
Commi�ee. 
  
An offer may be made to KMP subject to approval by the Board. Each par�cipant may be                 
issued performance rights in the form of zero-priced op�ons each year. Each right             
granted is an en�tlement to a fully paid ordinary share in the Group on terms and                
condi�ons, including ves�ng condi�ons linked to service and performance measures up           
to three years a�er grant. 

Value of grant of rights The number of rights granted to KMP is determined by dividing the value of their grant                
by the 5 day VWAP on the date of the grant. The value of an individual’s grant is                  
determined by the People Performance Commi�ee based upon the individual’s role and            
responsibili�es within the Group. 

Performance measures 
  

 

The rights granted will have performance measures based 33% on EPS performance, 33%             
on TSR performance and 33% on ROCE.  
  
EPS 
A posi�ve cumula�ve three year growth target is set by the Board for the performance               
period.  Ves�ng will not occur unless 90% of the cumula�ve EPS target is achieved.  
  
TSR 
Salmat’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) will be measured rela�ve to the cons�tuents of             
the ASX small industrials index (XSIAI). Ves�ng will not occur unless the Group is at or                
above the 50th percen�le and the rights will then vest in a straight line un�l the Group is                  
at or above the 75th percen�le, where 100% of the rights will vest. 
  
ROCE 
The ROCE target (expressed as a percentage) is an average over three years. Ves�ng will               
not occur unless 90% of the ROCE target is achieved.  

Legal rights Rights granted as part of the LTI Plan do not carry vo�ng or dividend rights nor can the                  
holders a�end shareholders mee�ngs; however, shares allocated upon ves�ng of rights           
and exercise of op�ons will carry the same rights as other ordinary shares. 

Forfeiture and termination Rights will lapse if performance measures are not met. There is a service condi�on              
a�ached to each tranche of performance rights in that the execu�ve must also be              
employed by the company at the release date of the Group’s financial results of the               
relevant financial year on which the final performance measures are assessed. 

Timing and delivery For future grants the performance measures will be assessed immediately prior to the             
release of Salmat’s financial statements in August, 3 years from the date of issue. The               
rights will vest subject to the sa�sfac�on of performance hurdles. Rights vest and the              
resul�ng shares are transferred to the senior execu�ve at no cost to the execu�ve. The               
rights will expire five years a�er they have been granted. 

Other information The Board decided not to issue any LTIs in FY19. During the year the Board awarded the                 
CEO a discre�onary bonus in lieu of forfeiture rela�ng to LTIs under the FY16 plan rules.  
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7. Executive remuneration disclosures 
 
Remuneration expenses for KMP: 
  
Details of KMP remunera�on for the Group (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) is set out in the following                     
table. This table is prepared in accordance with Accoun�ng Standards.  
 

  
 

Short-term employee 

benefits  

Long-term 

employee 

benefits 

Post- 

employment 

benefits  
Share-based 

payments  

  
Cash Salary 

Short term 

incentives 

Retention / 

Discretionary 

Bonus 

Non- 

monetary 

benefits 
Long service 

leave 
Super- 

annuation Termination Rights Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Current KMP           
Rebecca Lowde 1 

2019 646,731 208,455 89,282 6,300 8,649 28,576 - - 987,993 
 2018 629,129 - 429,225 9,861 4,962 20,049 - (41,066) 2 1,052,160 
Alex Panich 3 2019 271,157 66,041 - 6,300 1,371 20,049 - - 364,918 

 2018 250,000 - 32,000 6,565 435 20,049 - - 309,049 
Former KMP           
Chris Walsh 2019 - - - - - - - - - 
 2018 413,000 - 303,750 9,861 2,051 20,049 163,558 49,141 961,410 
Total 2019 917,888 274,496 89,282 12,600 10,020 48,625 - - 1,352,911 
 2018 1,292,129 - 764,975 26,287 7,448 60,147 163,558 8,075 2,322,619 

           
 
1 Rights to shares granted under the FY16 LTI scheme are expensed over the performance period. For FY16, these rights were issued on 14 December 2015                          

and the performance period was un�l August 2018. 
2  Reflects forfeiture of rights granted under the FY16 LTI plan. 
3  Alex Panich was confirmed as CFO on 13 August 2018. 
 
 
Performance based remuneration granted and forfeited during the year: 
 

STI  Total STI 
2019  Total opportunity Awarded % Forfeited % 
Current KMP     
Rebecca Lowde  260,406 80% 20% 
Alex Panich  82,500 80% 20% 
 

 

LTI 
No performance rights have been granted in FY19 and there are no exis�ng LTI plans in effect. 
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Shareholdings : 
  
The following table shows the relevant shareholdings of each KMP that were held during the financial year, including their                   
close family members and en��es related to them. 
 

2019 

  
  

Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted 
during the 

year as 
compensation 

Purchased 
during the year 

Other 
acquisition 

and disposal 
of shares 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

  
Current Non-Executive Directors - Ordinary shares 

Peter Ma�ck 44,889,589 - - - 44,889,589 
Stuart Nash 7,992 - - - 7,992 
Bart Vogel - - 100,000 - 100,000 
  
Current KMP - Ordinary shares 

Rebecca Lowde 20,178 - - - 20,178 
Alex Panich 15,000 - - - 15,000 

 

 
8. Service agreements 
 
KMP contracts specify remunera�on components, benefits and no�ce provisions. KMP are typically employed on ongoing               
contracts that have no fixed term. 
  

  Fixed 
remuneration 

Notice by 
Salmat 

Notice by 
executive 

Treatment on termination with notice by 
Salmat 2 

Rebecca Lowde - CEO $671,495 3 months 6 months Salmat can choose to make payment in lieu of 
no�ce, which would not exceed the average 
base salary plus STIs paid in the 12 months 
before termina�on. The KMP are not en�tled to 
receive any addi�onal re�rement or 
termina�on benefits. 

Alex Panich - CFO 1 $295,531 3 months        3 months 
 

 
1 Alex Panich was confirmed as CFO on 13 August 2018 
2 Termina�on clauses are specified in each contract describing treatment on termina�on based on the reason for termina�on (i.e. resigna�on, with                     

no�ce, due to illness or immediate termina�on for cause). 
 
 
 

9. Non-executive director remuneration 
  
Remuneration policy 
 

The remunera�on policy for Non-execu�ve Directors is designed to remunerate them at market levels for their �me,                 
commitment and responsibili�es. The Group is cognisant that it needs to a�ract and retain well qualified and experienced                  
Directors. The People Performance Commi�ee also takes into account external market data in se�ng Non-execu�ve               
Director fees.  
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Director fees 
  
The Director’s fee is a composite fee and covers all responsibili�es of the respec�ve members including Board and                  
Commi�ee du�es. The Non-execu�ve Directors do not receive any re�rement or performance related or other benefits.  
 
Shareholders at the Annual General Mee�ng in 2009 set the aggregate remunera�on pool for Non-execu�ve Directors at                 
$1.2 million. Non-execu�ve Directors' fees are reviewed annually in June and reflect the responsibility of the Directors. 
  
The Chairman’s fees are determined independently to the fees of non-execu�ve Directors based on compara�ve roles in                 
the external market. The Chairman is not present at any discussions rela�ng to the determina�on of his own                  
remunera�on.  
 
 

  2019   2018  

 

Board and 

Committee 

fees 

Post- 

employment 

superannuation Total 

Board and 
Commi�ee 

fees 

Post- 
employment 

superannua�on Total 
Peter Ma�ck (Chairman) 238,703 21,404 260,107 238,704 19,398 258,102 
Mark Webster 113,684 10,800 124,484 113,684 10,800 124,484 
Bart Vogel 113,425 10,775 124,200 113,425 10,775 124,200 
Stuart Nash 124,200 11,799 135,999 111,780 10,620 122,400 
John Thorn - - - 49,084 4,663 53,747 
Fiona Balfour - - - 59,163 5,620 64,783 

Total 590,012 54,778 644,790 685,840 61,876 747,716 
 
 
 

10. Financial performance 
  

We aim to align our KMP to our strategic objec�ves and the crea�on of shareholder wealth. The table below show                    
measures of Salmat’s financial performance as required by the Corporations Act 2001 . However, these are not necessarily                 
consistent with the measures used in determining the variable amounts of remunera�on to be awarded to KMPs. As a                   
consequence, there may not always be a direct correla�on between the statutory key performance measures and the                 
variable remunera�on awarded: 
  
 

$000 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 
Revenue 251,031 250,194 435,259 450,800 498,119 
Underlying EBITDA 19,036 20,288 22,842 19,586 13,289 
(Loss)/Profit for the year from Con�nuing Opera�ons (25,958) (5,154) 4,306 (8,029) (100,550) 
Return on Capital employed 1 14.4% 10.4% 6.5% 4.7% (1.0%) 

 
1  ROCE has been calculated from Con�nuing Opera�ons with significant items excluded  
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The factors that are considered to affect total shareholder return (‘TSR’) are summarised below: 
  
 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 
Dividend payments ($000) 21,915 1,997 - - 11,986 
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (cents) 1 (13.0) (2.6) 2.3 (5.0) (62.9) 
Share price at financial year end ($) 0.49 0.66 0.39 0.44 0.72 
(Decrease)/Increase in share price (%) (25.8%) 69.2% 11.4% 38.9% 55.6% 

 
1   EPS has been calculated from con�nuing opera�ons in FY19 

 
Insurance of officers 
  
During the financial year, Salmat Limited paid a premium of $305,307 to insure work performed by current or past                   
principals, partners, directors and employees. The liabili�es insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil                  
or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of en��es in the Group, and                     
any other payments arising from liabili�es incurred by the officers in connec�on with such proceedings.  
 
This does not include such liabili�es that arise from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the                     
improper use by the officers of their posi�on or of informa�on to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to                     
cause detriment to the company. It is not possible to appor�on the premium between amounts rela�ng to the insurance                   
against legal costs and those rela�ng to other liabili�es. No indemnifica�on insurance has been undertaken for the                 
auditors of the Group. 
  
Corporate governance 
  
In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of Salmat                 
Limited support and have adhered to the principles of corporate governance (as described in this Report). The Company‘s                  
Corporate Governance Statement is published on the Salmat Limited website www.salmat.com.au. 

  
Proceedings on behalf of the Company 
  
No person has applied to the Court under sec�on 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on                     
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking                      
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 
 
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in or on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under sec�on                     
237 of the  Corporations Act 2001. 
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Non-audit services 
  
The Group may decide to engage the auditor on assignments addi�onal to their statutory audit du�es where the auditor's                   
exper�se and experience with the Company and/or the Salmat Group are important. 
  
The Board of Directors has considered the posi�on and, in accordance with advice received from the Audit Commi�ee, is                   
sa�sfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compa�ble with the general standard of independence for auditors                  
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are sa�sfied that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as                    
set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following                  
reasons: 
 
● all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Commi�ee to ensure they do not impact the impar�ality and                   

objec�vity of the auditor, and 
 
● none of the services undermine the general principles rela�ng to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of                    

Ethics for Professional Accountants. 
  
Auditor's independence declaration 
  
A copy of the auditor's independence declara�on as required under sec�on 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on                     
page 25. 

  
Rounding of amounts 
  
The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corpora�ons (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191,                 
issued by the Australian Securi�es and Investments Commission, rela�ng to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the Directors'                  
report. Amounts in the Directors' report have been rounded off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest thousand                   
dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 
  
This report is made in accordance with a resolu�on of Directors.  
 
 
 

 
 

Peter Ma�ck   
Chairman   
 

Sydney 
27 August 2019 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 



*}

pwc

Auditor's Indep endence Declar ation
As lead auditor for the audit of Salmat Limited for the year ended 3o June zor9, I declare that to the
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act zoot in
relation to the audit; and

(b) no contraventions ofany applicable code ofprofessional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Salmat Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

Hayes Sydney
27 August 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN gz 78o 4SS 757
One InternationalTotuers Sydney,Wqtermqns Quay, Barangqroo,GPO BOX 265o, SYDNEY NSW zoot
T: +6t z 8266 oooo, F: +6t z 8266 gggg,www.pwecom.ett
I'euel u, IPSQ, t6g Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW zt5o, PO Box tt5g Parrqmatta NSW ztz4
T: +6t z 9659 2476, F: +6t z 8266 9999,www.pwc.com.qu

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Introduction 
This is the financial report of Salmat Ltd 
and its subsidiaries (together referred 
to as ‘the Group’) and includes the 
Group’s interest in associates and 
jointly controlled en��es. 

About this report 
Note disclosures have been split into six separate 
sec�ons to be�er understand how the business is 
performing. At the beginning of each sec�on we 
have included a summary of the highlights for that 
par�cular area and items we would like to draw 
par�cular a�en�on to.  
 
Where accoun�ng policy and cri�cal judgements 
have been made in the prepara�on of the financial 
statements we have assisted by shading in pink and 
highligh�ng with the following symbol. 
 

 

 

 We have also included in italics the Group’s 
accoun�ng policies which have replaced ‘Note 1’ in 
previous financial reports.  
 
Areas shaded in grey relate to new accoun�ng 
standard adop�on and discuss the Group’s impact 
and approach on adop�on of these standards.  
 
Informa�on has been included in the financial 
report where it has been considered material and 
relevant to the understanding of the financial 
statements. Disclosure is considered material if, for 
example:  

● The dollar value is significant in size 
(quan�ta�ve factor) 

● The dollar value is significant in nature 
(qualita�ve factor) 

● The Group’s result cannot be understood 
without specific disclosure (qualita�ve 
factor) 

● It is cri�cal to allow a user to understand 
the significant changes in the Group’s 
business during the period such as sale of 
businesses (qualita�ve factor) 

● It relates to an aspect of the Group’s 
opera�ons that is important to its future 
performance.  
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  2019 2018 
Continuing Operations Notes $'000 $'000 
    
Revenue 1.4 251,031 250,194 
Other Income  867 110 
Employee benefits expenses  (96,820) (89,415) 
Deprecia�on and amor�sa�on expense 1.4 (4,797) (6,147) 
Freight and distribu�on expenses  (100,043) (104,795) 
Property related expenses  (17,616) (16,223) 
Equipment related expenses  (7,677) (11,909) 
Other expenses from ordinary ac�vi�es  (11,938) (8,745) 
Impairment loss 1.3 (32,545) (15,300) 
Impairment loss of investment in joint venture 1.3 (2,711) - 
Finance costs 1.4 (108) (987) 
Share of net (losses)/profits of associates accounted for using the equity method 4.1 (797) 359 
    
Loss before income tax  (23,154) (2,858) 
    
Income tax expense 1.5 (2,804) (2,296) 
    
Loss for the year from Continuing Operations  (25,958) (5,154) 
(Loss)/Profit from Discon�nued Opera�ons  (1,832) 35,009 
    
(Loss)/Profit for the year  (27,790) 29,855 

 
 
Earnings per share for (loss)/profit from Continuing Operations attributable 

to owners of the company: 
   

Basic earnings per share  1.1 (13.0) (2.6) 
Diluted earnings per share  1.1 (13.1) (2.6) 
     
Earnings per share for (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the 

company: 

  
  

Basic earnings per share  1.1 (13.9) 15.0 
Diluted earnings per share  1.1 (14.0) 14.9 

 
  
The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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  2019 2018 
 Notes $'000 $'000 
    
(Loss)/Profit for the year  (27,790) 29,855 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Exchange differences on transla�on of foreign opera�ons 3.4 2,230 (574) 
Reclassifica�on of foreign currency transla�on to income statement  - 726 
    
Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Actuarial (losses)/gains on re�rement benefit obliga�on  (419) 343 
    
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  1,811 495 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  (25,979) 30,350 

    
Con�nuing Opera�ons  (24,089) (5,385) 
Discon�nued Opera�ons  (1,890) 35,735 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  (25,979) 30,350 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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  Consolidated 
  2019 2018 
 Notes $'000 $'000 
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 3.1 59,188 79,117 
Trade and other receivables 2.1 26,968 29,534 
Other current assets 2.2 3,899 4,409 
Total current assets  90,055 113,060 
    
Non-current assets    
Receivables and other non current assets 2.2 3,316 4,121 
Property, plant and equipment 2.4 7,143 5,127 
Intangible assets 2.5 22,683 55,780 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 4.1 - 1,855 
Deferred tax assets 1.5 7,275 9,492 
Total non-current assets  40,417 76,375 
    
Total assets  130,472 189,435 
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 2.3 22,537 45,631 
Current borrowings 3.1 634 642 
Current tax payable  315 266 
Current provisions 2.6 2,975 7,440 
Total current liabilities  26,461 53,979 
    
Non current liabilities    
Other non current liabili�es 2.7 2,470 1,703 
Deferred tax liability 1.5 1,707 1,911 
Non current provisions 2.6 1,608 2,035 
Re�rement benefit obliga�on  726 434 
Total non-current liabilities  6,511 6,083 
    
Total liabilities  32,972 60,062 
    
Net assets  97,500 129,373 
    
Equity    
Issued capital 3.3 226,499 226,570 
Reserves 3.4 (18,174) (20,160) 
Retained Earnings 3.5 (110,825) (77,037) 
Equity attributable to owners of the company  97,500 129,373 
    
Total equity  97,500 129,373 
    
The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated 
 Contributed 

Equity 
Reserves Retained 

Earnings 
Total 

equity 
 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
      
Balance at 1 July 2018  226,570 (20,160) (77,037) 129,373 

Change in accoun�ng policy - adop�on of AASB15 3.5 - - 89 89 

Restated total equity at the beginning of the financial year  226,570 (20,160) (76,948) 129,462 

Loss for the year  - - (27,790) (27,790) 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  - 2,230 (419) 1,811 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  - 2,230 (28,209) (25,979) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

Dividends provided for or paid 3.5 - - (5,960) (5,960) 
Cost of share-based payments 3.4 - (244) - (244) 
Purchase of shares through share trust 3.3 (71) - - (71) 
Reclassifica�on from reserves to retained earnings 1 3.5 - - 292 292 
  (71) (244) (5,668) (5,983) 

Balance at 30 June 2019  226,499 (18,174) (110,825) 97,500 

 
1  Remeasurement of re�rement benefit obliga�on balance due to closure of the defined benefit fund for Managed Services employees. 
 
 
Balance at 1 July 2017  226,585 (20,457) (89,268) 116,860 
      
Profit for the year  - - 29,855 29,855 
Other comprehensive income  - 152 343 495 
Total comprehensive income for the period  - 152 30,198 30,350 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      
Dividends provided for or paid 3.4 -  (17,967) (17,967) 
Cost of share-based payments 3.4 - 145 - 145 
Purchase of shares through share trust 3.3 (15) - - (15) 
  (15) 145 (17,967) (17,837) 
Balance at 30 June 2018  226,570 (20,160) (77,037) 129,373 

 
 

 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 

31  |  Salmat  Annual Report 2019 

Financial Report 
Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 
 
  Consolidated 
    2019 2018 
  Notes $'000 $'000 

 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax)  288,626 403,743 
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax)  (271,170) (389,055) 
  17,456 14,688 
Income taxes paid  (654) (2,118) 
Net cash inflow from operating activities 6.7 16,802 12,570 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (6,213) (1,930) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  69 - 
Payments for Intangibles  (137) (823) 
Interest received  742 571 
(Payment)/proceeds from loan to joint venture  (754) 687 
Proceeds from sale of business  673 68,114 
Costs associated with sale of business  (7,216) (1,850) 
Net cash (outflow) / inflow from investing activities  (12,836) 64,769 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Purchase of shares through the share trust 3.3 (71) (15) 
Dividends paid 1.2 (21,915) (1,997) 
Interest and finance costs paid  (19) (884) 
Repayment of borrowings  (2,955) (25,589) 
Transac�on with non-controlling interest  - (4,483) 
Net cash outflow from financing activities  (24,960) (32,968) 
    
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  (20,994) 44,371 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  79,117 34,816 
    
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  1,065 (70) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3.1 59,188 79,117 
 
 
 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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This section provides insight into how the Group has performed in the current year, with the headline results being : 
 •  Basic earnings per share (EPS) for Salmat Limited being a loss of (13.9) cents per share 

 • Loss after tax from Continuing Operations was $26.0 million (FY18: loss $5.2m) 

 • (Loss)/Profit after tax for the Group was ($27.8) million (FY18: profit $29.9m) 

  

1.1 Earnings per share   
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
Basic earnings per share   
From Con�nuing Opera�ons (13.0) (2.6) 
From Discon�nued Opera�ons (0.9) 17.6 
Total basic (loss)/earnings per share (13.9) 15.0 
   
Diluted earnings per share   
From Con�nuing Opera�ons (13.1) (2.6) 
From Discon�nued Opera�ons (0.9) 17.5 
Total diluted (loss)/earnings per share (14.0) 14.9 
   
Loss for the year from Con�nuing Opera�ons (25,958) (5,154) 
(Loss)/Profit from Discon�nued Opera�ons (1,832) 35,009 
(Loss)/Profit for the year (27,790) 29,855 
   
Weighted average number of shares on issue used to calculate basic EPS (‘000) 199,531 199,014 
Weighted average number of shares on issue used to calculate diluted EPS (‘000) 199,678 199,992 
 
 Calculation methodology 

  
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit a�ributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent en�ty by                    
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. Diluted EPS is calculated on the                  
same basis, except that it excludes the impact of any poten�al commitments the Group has to issue shares in the future.  
  
 
1.2 Dividends   
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
Dividends paid $'000 $'000 
FY18 Interim dividend paid to owners of Salmat Limited of 1.0 cents per share - 1,997 
FY18 Special dividend paid to owners of Salmat Ltd of 8.0 cents per share 15,955 - 
FY18 Final dividend paid to owners of Salmat Ltd of 2.0 cents per share 3,993 - 
FY19 Interim dividend paid to owners of Salmat Limited of 1.0 cents per share 1,967 - 
Dividend paid as per Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 21,915 1,997 
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 Consolidated 

 2019 2018 

Dividends declared $'000 $'000 
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% 
(2018- 30%) 

23,315 25,882 

  
The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the repor�ng period, adjusted for: 

a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax; 
b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the end of each repor�ng                     
period; and 
c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the end of each                   
repor�ng period. 

 
 
1.3 Segment Information 
  
A descrip�on of each segment is reported below: 
 

Marketing Solutions The Marke�ng Solu�ons division delivers relevant, targeted and integrated communica�ons          
across all digital and tradi�onal channels. Salmat’s solu�ons enable clients to interact and             
engage with their customers through na�onal le�erbox distribu�on, digital catalogues,          
pre-shopping website Lasoo, e-commerce, search (SEO, SEM and display adver�sing) and           
email. 

Managed Services The Managed Services segment provides outsourced business solu�ons - including          
back-office processes and digital crea�ve, development services and contact centre services           
- which are provided via an innova�ve range of managed service delivery models. 

 
Segment disclosures are consistent with the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Chief Executive Officer (the                   

chief operating decision maker) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.  
 
Segment performance is evaluated based on EBITDA before significant items. Financing, corporate costs (costs of strategic                
planning decisions, and compliance), and income tax are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to opera�ng                   
segments. 
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2019 

Marketing 

Solutions 
Managed 

Services 
Corporate 

Costs 
Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
     
External service revenue 162,352 87,833  250,185 

Finance income    846 
Total revenue    251,031 
Underlying EBITDA before significant items 10,184 13,371 (4,519) 19,036 

Deprecia�on and amor�sa�on expense    (4,797) 
Net Finance costs    739 
Underlying profit before income tax from Continuing Operations    14,978 

Significant items    (38,132) 
Loss before income tax from Continuing Operations    (23,154) 

Income tax expense    (2,804) 
Loss after tax from Continuing Operations    (25,958) 

 
 
 

2018 

Marketing 

Solutions 
Managed 

Services 
Corporate 

Costs 
Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
     
External service revenue 176,858 72,765  249,623 

Finance income    571 
Total revenue    250,194 
Underlying EBITDA before significant items 16,552 10,528 (6,792) 20,288 

Deprecia�on and amor�sa�on expense    (6,147) 
Net Finance costs    (417) 
Underlying profit before income tax from Continuing Operations    13,724 

Significant items    (16,582) 
Loss before income tax from Continuing Operations    (2,858) 

Income tax expense    (2,296) 
Loss after tax from Continuing Operations    (5,154) 
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 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
Significant items included in total expenses $'000 $'000 
Restructuring costs 659 1,282 
Industry review costs 743 - 
Colla�on proof of concept 837 - 
Impairment of Joint Venture  2,3 2,711 - 
Impairment included in share of Joint Venture loss  4 637 - 
Impairment of goodwill  5 32,545 15,300 
Significant items 38,132 16,582 
 

1  Tax benefits have not been assigned for significant items due to the Group remaining in a tax loss posi�on in Australia 
2  A loss allowance of $1,589,000 was recognised against the joint venture related party loan during the year (note 2.2)  
3  Impairment expense of $1,122,000 was applied against the carrying value of the investment in Reach Media joint venture during the year (note 4.1) 
4  The FY19 share of joint venture losses included an impairment expense of $637,000 on IT assets wri�en off during the year (note 4.1) 
5 During the year the Group recognised a $32.5 million impairment of goodwill in the Marke�ng Solu�ons cash genera�ng unit due to the long term view                          
of market condi�ons in the catalogue business and con�nuous shi�s in market share. (refer note 2.5) 

 
 
 
The following table presents Salmat’s segment revenues and assets by geographical area. 
  
 
 Segment revenues Segment assets 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Australia 162,352 176,797 60,206 132,346 
Philippines 87,833 72,764 47,926 33,447 
Other - 62 15,065 14,150 
Total 250,185 249,623 123,197 179,943 
Unallocated: deferred tax asset   7,275 9,492 
Total   130,472 189,435 
     
 
 
Segment revenues are allocated based on the country in which the work is performed. Segment assets and capital                  
expenditure are allocated based on where the assets are located. 
  
In FY19 two clients generated 9.3% and 8.3% of total revenue. In FY18 two clients generated 8.7% and 8.3% of total                     
revenue. 
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1.4 Revenue and expenses 
 
 
Revenue 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
The Group derives the following types of revenue:   
Service revenue 250,185 249,623 
Timing of revenue recogni�on   

Over �me 98,365 93,742 
At a point in �me 151,820 155,881 

 250,185 249,623 
Finance income 846 571 
Total revenue 251,031 250,194 
 
Disaggrega�on of revenue from contracts with customers (note 1.3) provides details of revenue by opera�ng and 
geographical segment. 
 

AASB 15  Revenue from contracts with customers 

 

The Group has adopted  AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  from 1 July 2018. AASB 15 supersedes  AASB 

118 Revenue  and applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless those contracts are within the 
scope of other standards. The standard provides a single comprehensive model for revenue recogni�on. The core 
principle of the standard is that an en�ty shall recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers at an amount that reflects the considera�on to which the en�ty expects to be en�tled in exchange for those 
goods or services.  
 
In adop�ng AASB 15 the Group has applied the following prac�cal expedients. Adop�on of the por�olio approach, as it 
reasonably expects that the effects of applying the standard under this approach will not differ materially than if applied 
to individual contracts. In addi�on, contract acquisi�on costs are expensed as they are incurred, as the expected costs 
have an amor�sa�on period of less than twelve months. The Group also elected not to disclose the remaining 
performance obliga�ons for variable considera�on. 
 
The Group adopted AASB 15 using the modified retrospec�ve approach, applied to those contracts which were not 
completed as of 1 July 2018, and recognised a net increase to opening retained earnings (note 3.5), an increase to Trade 
and other receivables (note 2.1) and an increase in Trade and other payables (note 2.3), at the date of ini�al applica�on. 
 
The implementa�on of AASB 15 impacted revenue during the year where an agency rela�onship exists that resulted in a 
$7.9 million (2018: $7.2m) reduc�on to revenue due to the reclassifica�on of third party costs.  There was no other 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
 

Results for repor�ng periods beginning a�er 1 July 2018 are presented under AASB 15, while the compara�ve 
informa�on was not restated and con�nues to be reported under accoun�ng standards in effect for those periods. 

 
 

 



 
 
 

38  |  Salmat  Annual Report 2019 

Financial Report 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Sec�on 1: Key performance metrics (con�nued) 

 

Revenue is recognised when the Group transfers control of the good or service to a customer. The transaction price for each 

contract is measured at fair value and may include variable pricing such as rebates and volume discounts.  The ‘most-likely’ 

method is used when estimating variable consideration to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of 

revenue will not occur.  

 

Where an arrangement includes multiple performance obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to each distinct 

performance obligation based on the stand alone selling prices ("SSP"). The SSP is the price at which the group would sell a 

promised good or service separately to a customer in comparable circumstances. Where it has been determined in 

accordance with AASB 15 that the Group is acting as an agent, revenue is recognised as the amount of any service fees to 

which the Group expects to be entitled net of any third party costs. 

 
The Group assesses credit risk at contract inception. If a contract meets the credit risk criteria, it is not reassessed unless 
there is a significant change in facts or circumstances.  

 
Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers 

  

Contract assets relate to the Group’s rights to considera�on in exchange for services that the en�ty has transferred to a 
customer but not invoiced at repor�ng date.  Contract assets are classified as Trade and other receivables and disclosed in 
note 2.1 as accrued revenue. 
 
Contract liabili�es primarily relate to considera�on received in advance from customers, for which the performance 
obliga�on is yet to be sa�sfied.  Contract liabili�es are classified as Trade and other payables and disclosed in note 2.3 as 
deferred revenue. Contract liabili�es also include refundable customer deposits as disclosed in note 2.7. 
 
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities 

 

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in the current repor�ng period, rela�ng to carried-forward 
contract liabili�es. 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Deferred revenue 347 3,140 
 347 3,140 
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Operating segment Performance obligations, timing and measurement 

Marketing Solutions The Marke�ng Solu�ons segment delivers relevant, targeted and integrated communica�ons 
across digital and tradi�onal channels. We have considered this segment in two parts:  
 
Letterbox distribution 
Le�erbox distribu�on services are provided in Australia and include digital catalogues and print 
services.  Le�erbox distribu�on and print services are recognised at a point in �me, digital 
catalogue is recognised over �me. 

● Le�erbox distribu�on revenue is measured on the number of catalogues assigned for 
distribu�on.  The performance obliga�on, catalogue distribu�on, is sa�sfied when the 
catalogue has been assigned for distribu�on.  

● Digital catalogue revenue is measured by the number of pages online, �me online and 
number of interac�ons.  The performance obliga�on, to provide online catalogue 
services, is sa�sfied once the pages are available online. 

● Print services revenue is measured by the volume of stock printed.  The performance 
obliga�on, to provide print services, is sa�sfied when the material becomes available 
for collec�on. 
 

Digital Services 

E-commerce and a number of digital marke�ng solu�ons are provided in Australia.  Digital 
services revenue is recognised over �me. 

● E-commerce revenue consists of website development, maintenance and hos�ng. 
Website development is measured using �me and materials, maintenance is measured 
on contracted hours, any unused hours are deferred and recognised in line with 
contract terms, hos�ng is measured as the amount of service fees.  The performance 
obliga�ons for website development, maintenance and hos�ng, are sa�sfied as the 
services are performed. 

● Digital marke�ng revenue is measured based on media spend, service fees and 
campaign performance.  The performance obliga�on, to provide digital marke�ng 
services, is sa�sfied as the services are performed. 
 

Managed Services The Managed Services segment provides outsourced business solu�ons, including back-office          
processes and digital crea�ve, development services and contact centre services. This segment            
has been considered below.  
 
Outsourced business solutions 

Outsourced business solu�ons are provided in the Philippines.  Revenue is recognised over �me, 
on a cost plus service fee basis.  The performance obliga�on, to provide outsourced business 
services, is sa�sfied as the services are performed.  

 
Financing components 

In the event that payment terms extend beyond 12 months, the receivable and associated revenue is discounted to its 
present value if the impact of discoun�ng is material.  The unwinding of this is recognised as finance income. 
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Expenses 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
Depreciation   
Plant and equipment 3,493 5,028 
Amortisation   
Customer Intangibles 1,304 1,119 
Deprecia�on and amor�sa�on expense 4,797 6,147 
 
 
Finance costs 108 987 
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 58 73 
Rental expense rela�ng to opera�ng leases 10,434 8,690 
Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 577 (228) 
Defined contribu�on superannua�on expense 3,046 3,484 
Share based payments expense (125) 15 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 32,545 15,300 
Impairment of investment in joint venture 2,711 - 
 
 

1.5 Income tax and deferred tax 
 

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable                     
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary                  
differences and unused tax losses. 

 Consolidated 
  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
 

Current tax 847 1,972 
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 35 (283) 
Total current tax expense 882 1,689 
   
   
Deferred tax   
Decrease in deferred tax assets 2,217 3,353 
Decrease in deferred tax liabili�es (295) (276) 
Total deferred tax expense 1,922 3,077 
   
Total income tax expense 2,804 4,766 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 

41  |  Salmat  Annual Report 2019 

Financial Report 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Sec�on 1: Key performance metrics (con�nued) 
 
Income tax is attributable to: 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
 
Profit from Con�nuing Opera�ons 2,804 2,296 
Profit from Discon�nued Opera�ons - 2,470 
Total income tax expense 2,804 4,766 
 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable     

 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
   
 

Loss from Con�nuing Opera�ons (23,154) (2,858) 
(Loss)/Profit from Discon�nued Opera�ons (1,832) 37,479 
(Loss)/Profit before tax (24,986) 34,621 
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2018 - 30%) (7,496) 10,386 
  

 Tax effect of amounts which are not deduc�ble (taxable) in calcula�ng taxable 
income 

 

Non-allowable deduc�ons 548 471 
Non-taxable income including sale of business 33 (13,508) 
Allowable items (425) (168) 
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 35 (283) 
Difference in overseas tax rates (1,247) (1,020) 
Share of profits 239 (108) 

Impairment loss of investment in joint venture 498 - 
Goodwill impairment 9,764 4,590 
Unrecognised tax losses 855 4,406 

Total income tax expense 2,804 4,766 
   
Tax losses   
   
Gross unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 51,368 48,518 
Poten�al benefit at 30% 15,410 14,555 
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Key judgement and estimate 

The Group’s deferred tax assets include an amount of $4.8 million which relates to recognised tax losses. The                  
Group has incurred taxable losses over the last three financial years, some of which have not been recorded                  

as a deferred tax asset as at 30 June 2019. Management has exercised its judgement, and concluded that it is probable                     
that the recognised tax losses will be recoverable using the es�mated future taxable income based on the business                  
forecasts built off historical trends and budget informa�on. The Group is expected to generate taxable income from                 
FY20. The unrecorded tax losses of $51.4 million are available for u�lisa�on, and they will remain available indefinitely                  
for offset against future taxable profits, subject to con�nuing to meet the statutory tax tests. 

 

 
Deferred tax 
  
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases                   

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax assets are                  

recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which deductible temporary                   

differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset                    

current tax assets and liabilities. 

 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other                      

comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or                   

directly in equity, respectively. 

  
Non-current Deferred tax assets Consolidated 

  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 

 

 $'000 $'000 
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   
Doub�ul debts 75 106 
Employee benefits 959 1,125 
Property, plant & equipment 143 766 
Other provisions 1,271 2,672 
Tax losses 4,827 4,823 
 7,275 9,492 
   
   
Movements:   
Opening Balance at 1 July 9,492 12,845 
Charged to the income statement (2,217) (3,353) 
Closing Balance at 30 June 7,275 9,492 
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Non-current deferred tax liabilities 

  Consolidated 
  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
  

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   
Intangible assets 1,707 1911 
   
Movements:   
Opening Balance at 1 July 1,911 2,101 
Credited to the income statement (295) (276) 
Charged from equity 91 86 
Closing Balance at 30 June 1,707 1,911 
 
 

Tax Consolidated Group 

Salmat Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled en��es have implemented tax consolida�on legisla�on. As a               
consequence, these en��es are taxed as a single en�ty and the deferred tax assets and liabili�es of these en��es are set                     
off in the consolidated financial statements. The en��es in the tax consolidated Group are part of a tax sharing and                    
funding agreement.  
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This section highlights the primary operating assets used and liabilities incurred to support the Group’s operating                

activities. Highlighted are the following items at the end of the year 

● The Group continues to hold adequate provision for bad debts with an increase in bad debt write offs this year                    

due to a MicroSourcing customer default of $0.6m. 

● The Board has approved a $32.5 million impairment of goodwill in the Marketing Solutions cash generating unit                 

due to the long term view of market conditions in the catalogue business and continuous shifts in market share.                   

Contracts between the two major suppliers of catalogue distribution continue to change combined with long               

term volume declines. 

● The business separation provision provided for at the end of FY18 has been fully utilised with no further                  

provision required. 

 

2.1 Trade and other receivables 
  Consolidated 
  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
 
Trade receivables 24,677 26,393 
Provision for impairment loss (381) (489) 
 24,296 25,904 
Accrued revenue 2,090 2,332 
Other receivables 582 1,298 
 26,968 29,534 
 
Trade receivables are non ‑ interest bearing, generally have 7 ‑ 45 day terms. Due to the short-term nature of these 

receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.  

 
On 1 July 2018, the Group adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, resulting in a change in accounting                    

policy and a restatement of Trade and other receivables, representing an increase of $0.2m to the amount recognised at                   

the date of initial application. 

 
As at 30 June 2019 the Group’s current trade receivables with a nominal value of $0.4 million (FY18: $0.5m) were                    
impaired and this es�mate is made when collec�on of the full amount is no longer probable. 
  
Movements in the allowance for impairment of receivables are as follows: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
   
At 1 July 489 736 
Allowance for impairment recognised during the year 976 138 
Receivables wri�en off during the year as uncollec�ble (1,077) (380) 
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons (7) (5) 
At 30 June 381 489 
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At 30 June 2019, trade receivables of $3.4 million (FY18: $4.8m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a                     
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral                    
as security. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows: 
 
 Consolidated 
  2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 
 
1-30 days 2,758 3,953 
31-60 days 518 646 
Greater than 60 days 91 209 
 3,367 4,808 
  
The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 

allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets at each reporting date. The Group calculates its impairment 

provision based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 

economic environment. 

 
2.2 Other assets 

 Consolidated - Current Consolidated - 

Non-Current 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Prepayments 2,744 3,986 277 330 
Inventories 93 57 - - 
Related party receivable - Reach Media NZ Limited (joint venture) 1 - - - 800 
Withholding tax receivable 815 82 - - 
Recoverable deposits 247 284 2,654 1,781 
Non-current Trade receivables - - 385 1,210 
 3,899 4,409 3,316 4,121 
 
1  The related party receivable from the Reach Media joint venture was assessed as unlikely to be recovered and a loss allowance $1,589,000 equal to the 
loan value was recognised.  
 

 
Related party transaction 

  
The loan to Reach Media NZ Limited is considered to be a transac�on with a related party. The loan is classified as 
non-current as management’s expecta�on is this loan will not be se�led within the next 12 months given the forecast 
opera�ng cash flows.  This loan is made on normal commercial terms and condi�ons, and interest is concluded to be at 
market rates.  
 
During the year, a loss allowance equal to the total amount outstanding was recognised and interest payments on the 
loan were ceased to assist the joint venture’s opera�ng cash flows.  
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  2.3 Trade and other payables 

 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Trade payables 5,656 9,335 
Accrued expenses 15,715 19,166 
Dividends payable - 15,970 
Deferred revenue 499 347 
Other payables 667 813 
 22,537 45,631 
 

Trade payables and other payables are non- interest bearing and are normally settled on supplier agreed terms. 

 

On 1 July 2018, the Group adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, resulting in a change in accounting 

policy and a restatement of Trade and other payables, representing an increase of $0.1m to the amount recognised at the 

date of initial application (1 July 2018). 
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2.4 Property, plant and equipment 

  
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost comprises
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item and subsequent costs incurred to replace parts 
that are eligible for capitalisation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
the asset or, in the case of leasehold improvements and leased assets, over the period of the lease or useful life of the 
asset, whichever is shorter.  A n asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 

   Plant and equipment 
$’000 

 
 

Key judgement and estimate - Useful life 

 
 

3 - 7 years 

 
2019  
Cost  
Opening balance 100,241 
Addi�ons for the period 5,722 
Disposals during the period (2,793) 
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons 1,387 
Closing balance 104,557 
  
Accumulated depreciation  
Opening balance (95,114) 
Deprecia�on charge (3,672) 
Disposals during the period 2,582 
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons (1,210) 
Closing balance (97,414) 
Carrying value 30 June 19 7,143 
  
2018  
Cost  
Opening balance 115,314 
Addi�ons for the period 1,930 
Disposals during the period included sale of business (16,685) 
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons (318) 
Closing balance 100,241 
  
Accumulated depreciation  
Opening balance (104,450) 
Deprecia�on charge (6,430) 
Disposals during the period included sale of business 15,335 
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons 431 
Closing balance (95,114) 
Carrying value 30 June 18 5,127 

 



 
 
 

48  |  Salmat  Annual Report 2019 

 

Financial Report 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Sec�on 2: Opera�ng assets and liabili�es (con�nued) 
 

2.5 Intangible assets 

 
The Group’s intangible assets comprise of goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 
entity sold. Other intangible assets include software assets and customer relationships obtained through business 
combinations. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
provision for impairment. Amortisation charges are expensed in the income statement on a straight-line basis over those 
useful lives. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually. 
 

 Goodwill 
 Software 

Assets 
Customer 

Relationships Total 

 '000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 

 

Key judgements and estimates - Amortisation policy                 N/A 3 years 12 years  
 

Year ended 30 June 2019     
Opening net book amount 46,564 213 9,003 55,780 
Addi�ons - 137 - 137 
Amor�sa�on charge - (92) (1,251) (1,343) 
Impairment (32,546) - - (32,546) 
Disposals - - - - 
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons 203 - 452 654 
Closing net book amount 14,221 258 8,204 22,683 
     
At 30 June 2019     
Cost 154,561 11,257 13,730 179,548 
Accumulated amor�sa�on and impairment (141,392) (10,999) (8,528) (160,919) 
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons 1,052 - 3,002 4,054 
Net book amount 14,221 258 8,204 22,683 

 

Year ended 30 June 2018         
Opening net book amount  73,258 5,079 9,745 88,082
Addi�ons  - 823 - 823
Amor�sa�on charge - Con�nuing and Discon�nued Opera�ons - (4,117) (1,119) (5,236)
Disposals on sale of businesses (11,573) (1,572) - (13,145)
Impairment (15,300) - - (15,300)
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons 179 - 377 556
Closing net book amount  46,564 213 9,003 55,780

 
At 30 June 2018         
Cost 154,561 11,120 13,730 179,411 
Accumulated amor�sa�on and impairment (108,847) (10,907) (7,277) (127,031) 
Net exchange difference on transla�on of foreign opera�ons 850 - 2,550 3,400 
Net book amount 46,564 213 9,003 55,780 
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Impairment tests for intangible assets 
  
The Group performs impairment testing of goodwill and other intangible assets annually, or at other times if there is an                    

indicator of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its                   

recoverable amount. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are                   

separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of                  

assets (cash-generating units). If the Group reassesses its Cash Generating Units (CGUs), goodwill and other intangibles                

are allocated between CGUs based on the relative value of the businesses. 

 
Results of Impairment tests for intangible assets 
  
During the year the Group recognised a $32.5 million (FY18: $15.3m) impairment of goodwill in the Marke�ng Solu�ons                  
cash genera�ng unit due to the long term view of market condi�ons in the catalogue business and con�nuous shi�s in                    
market share.  
 
With the sale of the Contact centre business during the prior year, the Group disposed of the goodwill a�ached to this                     
business. This was previously held in the Contact CGU. On this disposal, goodwill remaining in this CGU only relates to                    
MicroSourcing and so consistent with segment repor�ng, this CGU has been renamed Managed Services. The lowest level                 
at which goodwill is monitored is at a segment level, and so a segment and CGU summary of goodwill alloca�on is                     
presented below.  

  Marketing 
Solutions 

Managed 
Services 

Total 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 

        
2019 Goodwill - 14,221 14,221 

2018 Goodwill 32,546 14,018 46,564 
 
  Impact of possible changes in key assumptions 
 

Key judgement and estimate 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on a value-in-use using a discounted cash flow calcula�on.                  
In performing the value-in-use calcula�ons for each CGU, the Group has applied the following   key assump�ons:  

● Revenue forecasts for a five-year forecast period based business forecasts and projec�ons, u�lising budget              
informa�on and historical trends. The average five-year growth rate is 2.9% (FY18: 5.5%) for Managed Services and a                  
decline of 8.1% (FY18: 4.8%) for Marke�ng Solu�ons. 

● Growth rates to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-year period of 2.0% for Managed Services and 0% for                  
Marke�ng Solu�ons. 

● A post tax discount rate applied to forecast cash flows for Managed Services of 9.5% (FY18: 9.5%) and Marke�ng                   
Solu�ons of 10.3% (FY18: 10.3%). 

Discount rates reflect the Group's es�mate of the �me value of money and the risks specific to each CGU that are not already                       
reflected in the cash flows. In determining appropriate discount rates for each CGU, regard has been given to the weighted                    
average cost of capital of the Group, business risk specific to that segment and opera�ng in different geographic loca�ons. 
 
For the Managed Services CGU, sensi�vity analysis on reasonably possible changes to the revenue growth, discount rate and                  
long-term growth rates would not result in an outcome where impairment would be required. 
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2.6 Provisions 

 

Provisions are: 

● Recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that cash will be                      

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. 

● Measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the cash outflow required to settle the                 

obligation.  

 

Where a provision is non-current and the effect is material, provisions are discounted and the unwind of the discount is                    

recognised as a financing cost in the income statement. 

 
 
 Consolidated 
Provisions 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
Current   
Employee benefits - long service leave 1,615 1,750 
Employee benefits - annual leave 1,360 1,749 
Separa�on sale of business provision - 3,941 
 2,975 7,440 
Non-current   
Employee benefits – long service leave 299 317 
Other provisions – lease make good 1,309 1,718 
 1,608 2,035 
   
Total provisions 4,583 9,475 
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Provision 
categories 

 Description Key judgement 

Employee 
benefits 

Liabili�es for wages and salaries, including      
non-monetary benefits, and annual leave which are       
expected to be se�led within 12 months of the         
repor�ng date. All other short-term employee benefit       
obliga�ons are presented as payables. 
 
Liabili�es for long service leave are measured at the         
present value of es�mated future payments for the        
services provided by employees up to the repor�ng        
date. 

Expected future wages and 
salary levels. 
 
Experience of employee 
departures. 
 
Periods of service (Long service 
leave only). 

Lease make good 
provision 

The Group has leased proper�es in various loca�ons        
across Australia and Asia. In most instances, Salmat is         
required to make good the premises to the original state          
they were in when Salmat signed the lease.  

Future costs associated with 
restoring sites to their original 
condi�on. 

Separa�on 
provision 

The separa�on provision in FY18 has been fully u�lised         
in the current financial year as elements of onerous         
contracts, employee en�tlements and restructuring     
costs have completed post separa�on of the Contact        
centre business.  

Expected future costs rela�ng to 
separa�on ac�vi�es and 
onerous contracts have 
completed.  

  
Movements in the lease make good provision is set out below: 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,718 2,403 
Addi�onal provision recognised 146 222 
Provision u�lised (560) (179) 
Disposals on sale of businesses - (698) 
Foreign currency transla�on impact 5 (30) 
Carrying amount at end of year 1,309 1,718 
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2.7   Other non-current liabilities 

 

 

 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Refundable customer deposits 2,296 1,319 
Other payables 174 384 
 2,470 1,703 
 

  

The refundable customer deposits represent the security bonds collected from customers by MicroSourcing Interna�onal 
Ltd.  Bonds are used to minimise the credit risk exposure of the business and it is applied to any costs associated with the 
contract termina�on.  This includes office reinstatement costs, outstanding employee severance costs and any amount owed 
by customers to MicroSourcing. 
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The Group is exposed to a number of market and financial risks, and this section outlines these key risks and how                     

they are managed. Management uses a wide range of metrics to assist in maintaining an efficient capital structure. 

The key outcomes are outlined below: 

● The Group ended the year in a net cash position of $58.6m (FY18: $78.5m).  

● The Group utilises short term financing options for large insurance and contract renewals where              

appropriate to mitigate against material operating cash flow movements.  

 

 

3.1 Capital management 
 
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable                  

transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest ‑ bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised              

cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an                 

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

  
Borrowings Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
Current   
Short term financing 634 642 
Total current borrowings 634 642 
 
Total cash and cash equivalents 59,188 79,117 
Net cash 58,554 78,475 
   
 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Total borrowings at beginning of the year 642 25,986 
Net Cash flows (repayments, interest & finance costs paid, drawdowns) (2,955) (26,473) 
Foreign exchange adjustments - (264) 
Other non-cash movements 2,947 1,393 
Total borrowings at the end of the year 634 642 
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Borrowing facilities 
 
At 30 June 2019 the Group’s facility agreement only included bank guarantees and an overdra� facility.  
 
The Group had access to the following borrowing facili�es at the repor�ng date: 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
Floating rate   

Bank overdra� 500 500 
Guarantee facility 2,987 2,987 

 3,487 3,487 
Used at balance date   

Guarantee facility 1,236 1,908 
 1,236 1,908 
Unused at balance date   

Bank overdra�s 500 500 
Guarantee facility 1,751 1,079 

 2,251 1,579 
 
  
The bank overdra� facili�es may be drawn at any �me. The current interest rate on the bank overdra� facility is 5.00% (FY18:                      
4.17%). 
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3.2 Financial risk management  
  
The Group's ac�vi�es expose it to a variety of financial risks: market (including foreign currency and interest rate risk),                   
credit and liquidity risk. The Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These                     
methods include sensi�vity analysis in the case of market risks; aging analysis for credit risk and rolling cash flow forecasts                    
for liquidity risk. 
  
Risk management is carried out in accordance with policies approved by the Board of Directors and seeks to minimise                   
poten�al adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Board provides wri�en principles for overall risk                  
management, as well as policies covering specific areas. 
 
The Group holds the following financial instruments: 
  
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 59,188 79,117 
Trade and other receivables 27,353 31,544 
 86,541 110,661 
Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payable 22,212 45,668 
Borrowings 634 642 
 22,846 46,310 
  
 

AASB 9 Financial instruments 

AASB 9 addresses the classifica�on, measurement and derecogni�on of financial assets and financial liabili�es,              
introduces new rules for hedge accoun�ng and a new impairment model for financial assets. This standard was adopted                  
by the Group on 1 July 2018. The classifica�on and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have a significant                    
impact on the Group and as a result no adjustments have been made to compara�ves or opening retained earnings. 

 
The Group classifies financial assets as either those measured at amortised cost or those measured at fair value (either 

through profit or loss (FVTPL) or other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)). The classification depends on the Group’s business 

model for managing the financial assets, determined by the contractual cash flows.  For assets measured at fair value, 

gains and losses will be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.  

  

Financial assets are recognised on the date at which the Group enters into a contractual obligation.  Financial assets are 

derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or all the risks and rewards of 

ownership have been substantially transferred. 

 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset using either fair value or amortised cost. Transaction costs 

attributable to the acquisition of a financial asset are expensed through profit or loss.  

  

Financial liabilities designated as either  held-for-trading  or  fair-value-through-profit or loss,  are measured at fair value. 

Changes in credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive income with no recycling to profit and loss. 
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a)     Market risk 

  
(i)    Foreign exchange risk 

Each individual entity within the Group records its transactions in its relevant functional currency, which is the currency of                   

the economic environment in which the entity primarily generates and expends cash. For all entities within the Group with                   

a functional currency that is not the Australian dollar: 

• Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rate at the date of that balance sheet; and 
• Income and expenses are translated at year to date average exchange rates. 
  
On consolidation, all exchange differences arising from translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated as a separate component of equity in the foreign currency translation reserve.  
 
The Group's income and opera�ng cash flows are not materially exposed to any par�cular foreign currency. Each business                  
unit operates in its own func�onal currency with li�le exposure to foreign exchange transac�ons. Customer, supplier and                 
employee related transac�ons are for the most part contained within the country of opera�ons.  
 

(ii)   Interest rate risk 

The Group's main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable interest rates. The Group's treasury                 
policy requires interest rate swaps to be entered into to manage cash flow risks associated with borrowings with variable                   
interest rates. 
  
As at 30 June 2019 the Group has no banking debt and remain in a net cash posi�on, so the Group’s exposure to interest                        
rate risk is considered minimal, as there is no debt to service. 
 
b) Credit risk 

  
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual                      
obliga�ons.  
 
The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance                  

for all trade receivables and contract assets at each reporting date. The Group calculates its impairment provision based on                   

its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic                

environment. 

  
Salmat has a Credit Policy which provides the guidelines for the management of credit risk. This ensures the credit risk of                     
clients is assessed and appropriate account limits are set. Customers that do not meet minimum credit criteria are required                   
to pay up front. Customers who fail to meet their account terms are reviewed for con�nuing credit worthiness. 
  
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the repor�ng date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as summarised on                     
page 55. As at 30 June 2019, the Group's exposure to customers with a balance greater than $1 million totalled $9.6 million                      
(FY18: $5.9 million) across 6 customers (FY18: 5). The Group does not consider that there is any significant concentra�on of                    
credit risk. 

  

c) Liquidity risk 

  
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and funding through available credit facili�es. The               
Group manages liquidity risk by con�nuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and surplus funds are generally only                  
invested in highly liquid  instruments.  
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Maturities of financial liabilities 

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabili�es into relevant maturity groupings based on contractual maturity date.                 
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows (interest is calculated based on current                  
rates).  Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying amount as the impact of discoun�ng is not significant. 
  
Contractual maturities of 
financial liabilities 

Less than 6 
months 

6 - 12 
months 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 

liabilities 

 

At 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Trade payables 22,038 - 174 - - 22,212 22,212 
Borrowings including 
interest 

634 
- 

- - - 634 634 

Total financial liabilities 22,672 - 174 - - 22,846 22,846 

        
At 30 June 2018        
Trade payables 45,284 - 209 175 - 45,668 45,668 
Borrowings including 
interest 

642 - - - - 642 642 

Total financial liabilities 45,926 - 209 175 - 46,310 46,310 
 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabili�es must be es�mated for recogni�on and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes.  There are no material Level 1 - 3 financial liabili�es held by the Group at 30 June 2019.   

 
3.3 Contributed equity 
 
Capital management 

  
The Group's objec�ves when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to con�nue as a going concern, so that it can                     
con�nue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. In order to maintain or adjust the capital                   
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new                  
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
As the Group is in a net cash posi�on, the monitoring and forecas�ng of the net cash posi�on is a key measure that capital                        
management targets are assessed against. At 30 June 2019 the Group had a net cash posi�on of $58.6 million (FY18:                    
$78.5m). The Group con�nues to monitor cash closely and are assessing future capital structures to ensure the Group is able                    
to con�nue as a going concern. 
 
At 30 June 2019 $21,966 (FY18: $210,037) of cash is held in trust for employee share schemes and is restricted to the use                       
of se�lement of short-term and long-term employee share scheme incen�ves. 
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Ordinary shares 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per                       
share at meetings of the Company.  All shares rank equally regarding the Group’s residual assets. 
 
The Group does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. 
 
Treasury shares 
Treasury shares are shares in Salmat Limited that are held by the Salmat Limited employee share trust for the employee 
deferred share and option plan and are deducted from equity. 
 
Set out below is a full reconcilia�on of share capital for the period: 
 
 2019 2018 

Ordinary share capital 

Number of 

shares '000 $'000 Number of 
shares '000 $'000 

    
Balance at beginning of period ordinary share 
capital 199,629 226,570 199,651 226,585 

Purchase of shares through share trust (107) (71) (22) (15) 
 199,522 226,499 199,629 226,570 
 
Treasury shares 
     
Balance at 1 July 2018 346 191 324 176 
Purchase of shares through share trust 107 71 22 15 
Employee share scheme ves�ng & issue (312) (140) - - 
Balance at 30 June 2019 141 122 346 191 
 

3.4 Reserves 
 
Share-based payments reserve 

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of performance rights and options as an expense. 

  

Foreign currency translation reserve 

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are recognised in the Foreign currency                

translation reserve (‘FCTR’). When a foreign operation is disposed of, the amount within FCTR related to that entity is                   

transferred to the income statement as an adjustment to the profit or loss on disposal.  
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 Consolidated 

 
Share based 

payments 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve 

Business 

acquisition 

reserve 
Total 

Other reserves $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
     
Balance 1 July 2018 2,517 1,962 (24,639) (20,160) 
Shares and op�ons expense (244) - - (244) 
Exchange differences on transla�on of foreign opera�ons - 2,230 - 2,230 
Balance 30 June 2019 2,273 4,192 (24,639) (18,174 ) 
     
Balance 1 July 2017 2,372 1,810 (24,639) (20,457) 
Shares and op�ons expense 145 - - 145 
Exchange differences on transla�on of foreign opera�ons - (574) - (574) 
Reclassifica�on of foreign exchange currency reserve to income 
statement - 726 

- 726 

Balance 30 June 2018 2,517 1,962 (24,639) (20,160) 
 

 

3.5 Retained earnings 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
Retained earnings $'000 $'000 
   
Balance 1 July 2018 (77,037) (89,268) 
Recogni�on of asset for revenue not previously recognised 1 163 - 
Recogni�on of liability for revenue not previously recognised 1 (74) - 
Change in accoun�ng policy - adop�on of AASB15 89 - 
Restated total equity at the beginning of the financial year (76,948) (89,268) 
   
(Loss)/Profit for the year (27,790) 29,855 
Other comprehensive (loss)/income (419) 343 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income (28,209) 30,198 
   
Dividends provided for or paid (5,960) (17,967) 
Reclassifica�on from reserves to retained earnings 2 292 - 
 (5,668) (17,967) 
   
Balance 30 June 2019 (110,825) (77,037) 
 

1  On 1 July 2018, the Group adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, resul�ng in a change in accoun�ng policy and a restatement of 
retained earnings at the date of ini�al applica�on (1 July 2018) 
2  Remeasurement of re�rement benefit obliga�on balance due to closure of the defined benefit fund for Managed Services employees. 
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This section provides further insight into the business portfolio of the Group with a summary of the investments 

held and any profit/(loss) on sale of it’s Discontinued Business Operations.  

 

A summary of the Discontinued Operations in the current year are as follows: 

● Post sale of the Contact Centre business to funds advised by 5V Capital in FY18 the Group has incurred costs 

to separate the businesses. Loss after tax from Discontinued Operations for the year was $1.8 million with 

the Group expecting no additional costs in relation to the separation to be incurred. 

● The Reach Media share of joint venture losses were $0.8 million for the year that included an impairment 

loss of $0.6 million on IT assets written off. 

● The $1.1 million (FY18: $1.9m) investment relating to the Reach Media joint venture was impaired during 

the year as the Directors assessed the amount to be not recoverable.  

 

  

4.1  Group interests and related parties  
  
Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity                  

when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to                       

affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date                    

on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

 
The ul�mate parent en�ty is Salmat Limited. The Group’s material subsidiaries and interests in these at the end of the 
repor�ng period are as follows: 
  

      Equity Holding 

      2019 2018 
      % % 
     
Salmat MediaForce Pty Limited  1 Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Salmat Digital Pty Limited  1 Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Salmat Direct Sales Pty Limited  1 Australia Ordinary 100 100 
Netstarter Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100 
MicroSourcing Philippines Inc Philippines Ordinary 100 100 
MicroSourcing Interna�onal Ltd Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 

  
1 These subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with ASIC Corpora�ons (Wholly-owned                    
Companies) Instrument 2016/785. 
 

  

 



 
 
 

61  |  Salmat  Annual Report 2019 

Financial Report 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Sec�on 4: Business por�olio (con�nued) 
 
Investments 

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment’s are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to 

recognise the Group’s share of the profits or losses of the investee, and the Group’s share of movements in other 

comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying 

amount of the investment. 

 
Set out below are the investments of the Group at 30 June 2019. 
  
Name of Company Principal activity Ownership interest Carrying amount 

/ fair value 

    2019 2018 2019 2018 
    % % $'000 $'000 
      
Unlisted – no quoted prices available          
Reach Media NZ Limited, New Zealand 
(Joint Venture) 2 

Unaddressed mail 
distribu�on 50 50 - 1,855 

Online Media Holdings Pty Ltd (AFS) 1 
Online loca�on 
based services 16  16 - - 

    - 1,855 
 
1  The Group has concluded the fair value of the Online Media investment should remain $ NIL as there is no ac�ve market for this investment 
2  The $1.1 million investment (FY18: $1.9m) rela�ng to the Reach Media joint venture was impaired during the year as the Directors assessed the 

amount to not be recoverable.  
 

 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 1,855 1,546 
Impairment Loss (1,122) - 
Foreign exchange loss 64 (50) 
Share of (losses) / profits recognised a�er income tax 1 (797) 359 
Carrying amount at the end of the financial year - 1,855 
 
  1  The FY19 share of joint venture losses includes an impairment expense of $637,000 on IT assets wri�en off during the year 

 
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments are reviewed annually by the Directors to ensure it is not in excess of 
the recoverable amount of these investments.  The $1.1 million investment in the current year (FY18: $1.9m) rela�ng to the 
Reach Media joint venture was fully impaired as the Directors assessed the amount to not be recoverable.  
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4.2 Discontinued Operations 
 
A Discontinued Operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of that represents a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations and is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or 
area of operations. The results of Discontinued Operations are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss. The 
comparative figures are also restated to exclude the results of Discontinued Operations. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less 
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group).  
 
(a) Description 
 
During the FY18 financial year, the Group sold products from the Marke�ng Solu�ons and Managed Services segments. 
Transac�ons that con�nued to impact the Group in the FY19 financial year: 
 

● Contact - Sale of the Contact centre business to funds advised by Five 5 Capital for $53.0m on the 18th of May 
2018. The Contact centre business included opera�ons in Australia, New Zealand and the Philippines. 

 
(b)  Financial performance and cash flow information of Discontinued Operations 
 
The financial performance and cash flow informa�on presented below. 
  Consolidated 

  
2019 2018 
$'000 $'000 

Revenue  - 123,047 
Other income  (73) - 
Expenses from ordinary ac�vi�es  (1,572) (137,897) 
Loss before income tax  (1,645) (14,850) 
Income tax expense  - (1,989) 
Loss for the period from Discon�nued Opera�ons  (1,645) (16,839) 
Gain on sale of the Discon�nued Opera�ons a�er income tax  (187) 51,848 
(Loss)/profit from Discontinued Operations 1  (1,832) 35,009 

 
  2019 2018 
  $’000 $’000 
 
Net cash ou�low from opera�ng ac�vi�es - (3,721) 
Net cash ou�low from inves�ng ac�vi�es (7,216) (1,221) 
Net decrease in cash from Discontinued Operations 1 (7,216) (4,942) 

 
 
1  FY18 Discon�nued Opera�ons include the sale of MessageNet - MessageNet Pty Ltd to Message4U Pty Ltd for $14.8m on the 29th of December 2017. 
Interac�ve Services - Trade sale of the customers and products were sold to Oxygen8 for $0.5m on the 31st of October 2017. The Fuse pla�orm was 
discon�nued and sold for an immaterial amount.  
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This section should be read in conjunction with the remuneration report as set out in the Directors’ report, which                   

contains detailed information regarding the setting of remuneration for Key Management Personnel. Employee             

expenses and employee provisions are shown in note 1.4 and note 2.6 respectively and provides financial insight                 

into employee remuneration arrangements. 

 

5.1 Share-based payments 

  
The fair value of options granted are recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity.                   

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted. The total expense is                      

recognised over the vesting period. At the end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that                      

are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original                   

estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

 
Employee option plan 

  
The Salmat Execu�ve Op�on Plan allows the Company to grant performance rights in the form of zero price op�ons over                    
shares to key execu�ves. The plan is designed to provide long-term incen�ves for senior managers and above to deliver long                    
term shareholder returns. Under the plan par�cipants are offered rights to purchase shares if certain performance standards                 
are met. The considera�on for the right is zero.  
 
The number of rights that vest depends on Salmat’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR), Earnings Per Share (EPS) and Return on                    
Capital Employed (ROCE). There is also a service condi�on a�ached to each tranche of performance rights in that the                   
execu�ve must also be employed by the Company at the date of assessment of the rights. 
  
Par�cipa�on in the plan is at the Board’s discre�on. Rights generally may not be transferred and do not carry any vo�ng                     
rights or the right to dividends.  
  
Once vested, the right remains exercisable for a period of 2 years (or such earlier date as determined by the Board) from the                       
date of its ves�ng to the eligible execu�ve, or the date six months a�er the eligible execu�ve dies, re�res, is made redundant                      
or becomes disabled, or the date one month a�er the eligible execu�ve ceases to be employed by Salmat for any other                     
reason. 
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Set out below are summaries of rights granted under the plan: 
  

Grant 
Date Expiry date  

Exercise 
price  

Balance at 
beginning 

of the year 

Granted 
during the 

year 

Forfeited 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during 

the year 

Balance at 
end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 

end of the year 

Number Number Number Number Number Number 

Consolidated – 2019 

         
Dec 15 Sept 18 - 540,312 - - (540,312) - - 
Total   - 540,312 - - (540,312) - - 

 

Consolidated – 2018 

        
Dec 15 Sept 18 - 1,031,341   - (491,029) - 540,312 540,312 
Total     1,034,341   - (491,029) - 540,312 540,312 

 

The assessed fair value at grant date of rights granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the period from grant date                      

to vesting date. Fair values at grant date are independently determined using an adjusted form of the Black-Scholes model                   

and a Monte Carlo simulation that take into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution (where                      

material), the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and                    

the risk-free interest rate for the term of the right. 

  
The model inputs for the rights issued during the year ended 30 June 2016 included: 
  

a) Share price at date of grant: $0.65 on 14 December 2015 
b) Rights issued have no exercise price 
c) Risk free interest rate: 2.11% on 14 December 2015  
d) Expected price vola�lity of the Company's shares: 40% 
e) Expected dividend yield: 0% 
f) Expiry and ves�ng date: 1 September 2018 

  

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transac�ons recognised during the year as part of employee benefit 
expense were as follows: 
 

 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Employee op�on plan expense (130) 145 
Share based payments made under FY16 plan (114) - 
 (244) 145 
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 5.2 Retirement benefit obligations 

 
All Philippines employees of the Group are en�tled to benefits from the superannua�on plan on re�rement, disability or                  
death. The one defined benefit scheme is for MicroSourcing Interna�onal Limited. The defined benefit plan expense is                 
determined by independent actuarial valua�ons. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in retained              
earnings through other comprehensive income and employee expenses and interest costs are recognised through the               
income statement. The defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the                 
defined benefit obliga�on. 
  

The discount rate applied is based on zero-coupon bond yields (using the RDST-R2 index) and compounded annually. The                  
salary growth rate applied takes into account infla�on, seniority, promo�on, produc�on, merit and other market factors.                
The salary growth rate affects all future years, and is considered to be the long-term growth rate. While these are                    
significant actuarial assump�on, due to the size of the defined benefit obliga�on, changes in these are not expected to                   
have a material impact on the obliga�on at 30 June 2019. 
  
5.3 Key management personnel 

 
 Consolidated 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
Short-term employee benefits 1,884,278 2,769,231 
Long-term benefits 10,020 7,448 
Post employment benefits - Defined contribu�on fund contribu�ons 103,403 122,023 
Share-based payments - 8,075 
Termina�on payments - 163,558 
 1,997,701 3,070,335 
 
  
Detailed remunera�on disclosures for key management personnel and the Board are provided in the remunera�on report on 
pages 13-23.  There are no transac�ons with key management personnel, the Board or en��es related to them, other than 
remunera�on detailed. 
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This section includes additional financial information that is required by the accounting standards and the               

Corporations Act 2001. 

  
6.1 Commitments, contingent liabilities and guarantees  

  

a) Lease commitments 

 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are 

classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a 

straight ‑ line basis over the period of the lease. 

 

The Group leases various offices and warehouses under non ‑ cancellable operating leases. The leases have varying terms,                

escalation clauses and renewal rights.  On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. 

  
  Consolidated 

  2019 2018 
  $'000 $'000 
 
Commitments for minimum lease payments in rela�on to non-cancellable 
opera�ng leases are payable as follows:   
   
Within one year 11,203 9,116 
Later than one year but not later than five years 22,271 20,598 
Later than five years - 1,733 
 33,474 31,447 
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New accounting standard:  AASB 16 Leases 

The IAS has issued IFRS 16 Leases, a new standard for the accoun�ng of leases, replacing IAS 17 Leases. The AASB has 
issued an equivalent standard, AASB 16 Leases. The standard introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accoun�ng 
model for lessees and removes the dis�nc�on between finance and opera�ng leases. A lessee recognises a right-of-use                 
asset represen�ng its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability represen�ng its obliga�on to make lease                   
payments. There are recogni�on exemp�ons for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. 
 
The Group is required to adopt AASB 16 for annual repor�ng periods beginning on or a�er 1 January 2019. Earlier                    
adop�on is permi�ed, however, the Group does not intend to adopt the standard before its effec�ve date. The Group                   
plans to apply AASB 16 using the modified retrospec�ve approach. Therefore, the cumula�ve effect of adop�ng AASB 16                  
will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 July 2019, with no restatement of                     
compara�ve informa�on. 
 
The Group has progressed its assessment of the expected impact of the future adop�on of AASB 16 on its consolidated                    
financial statements. The Group has collated lease informa�on and is finalising its assessment of the key assump�ons                 
and inputs to be applied for the adop�on of the new standard. Based on the informa�on currently available, the Group                    
expect to recognise: 

● New right-of-use assets and lease liabili�es for marke�ng solu�ons distribu�on warehouses and managed             
services office opera�ng leases in the consolidated balance sheet as at 1 July 2019. The right-of-use asset                 
consists of the ini�al lease liability, ini�al direct costs, es�mate of restora�on or dismantling costs and any lease                  
payments made to the lessor before or at commencement date less any lease incen�ves received. The lease                 
liability is measured at the present value of minimum lease payments for the lease term; 

● Increase in EBITDA as current rental and occupancy expense in the consolidated income statement is separated                
into deprecia�on for the right of use asset and interest expense on the lease liability; 

● Increase in opera�ng cash flow as the lease repayments considered as financing rather than opera�ng cash                
flows in the consolidated cash flow statement. 
 

The Group has iden�fied a small number of commitments covered by the short-term and low-value lease excep�on and                  
will recognise the lease payments as expenses. 
 
Some of the commitments may be covered by the excep�on for short-term and low-value leases and some commitments                  
may relate to arrangements that will not qualify as leases under AASB 16. 
 
 
(b) Contingent liabilities 

 

The Group has been, and is involved from �me to �me in various claims and proceedings arising from the conduct of its 
business. There are no claims or proceedings on foot, either individually or in aggregate, where the quantum of the claim is 
likely to have a material effect on the Group’s financial posi�on. The Group maintains insurance cover to minimise the 
poten�al effects of such claims, and where appropriate, provisions have been made. 
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(c) Guarantees     
  
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Guarantees in respect of performance under contracts and premise leases 1,236 1,908 
 1,236 1,908 
 
 
These guarantees may give rise to liability in the Salmat Group if the subsidiaries do not meet their obliga�ons under the                     
terms of the leases or overdra� subject to the guarantees. 
 

6.2 Remuneration of auditors  
  

  Consolidated 

  2019 2018 
  $ $ 
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by auditors of the company:     
PricewaterhouseCoopers: 
     
Remuneration for audit or review of the financial reports   
PricewaterhouseCoopers – Australian firm 271,310 462,055 
PricewaterhouseCoopers – Overseas firm 87,748 74,900 
Total audit and other assurance services 359,058 536,955 
     
Remuneration for other services 1     
PricewaterhouseCoopers – Australian firm    
Tax services 33,660 165,540 
Consul�ng and advice - 1,855,418 
Total non-audit services 33,660 2,020,958 
  
1  FY19 non-audit services included Financial and Tax advice associated with the sale of the Contact centre business. FY18 non-audit services included 
Financial and Tax advice associated with the sale of the Contact centre business. PricewaterhouseCoopers was considered most appropriately suited to 
perform this work. It is the Group’s policy to employ the auditors on assignments addi�onal to their statutory audit du�es where their exper�se and 
experience with the Group is compelling. This work was performed by a separate team to the audit team.  
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6.3 Parent Entity financial information 
  

a)    Summary financial information 

  
The financial information for the parent entity has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial                  

statements except for Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities. 

  

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of                  

Salmat Limited. Dividends received from associates are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss when its right to                   

receive the dividend is established. 

 
The individual financial statements for the Parent En�ty show the following aggregate amounts: 
  
 
 Parent Entity 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
Statement of financial position   
Current assets 35,773 67,131 
Non-current assets 38,292 101,511 
Total assets 74,065 168,642 
   
Current liabili�es 12,577 38,169 
Non-current liabili�es 265 1,100 
Total liabili�es 12,842 39,269 
   
Shareholders' equity   
Contributed equity 226,498 226,570 
Reserves (2,530) (5,768) 
Retained earnings (162,745) (91,429) 
 61,223 129,373 
   
(Loss)/profit for the year (65,356) 118,982 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (65,356) 118,982 
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6.4 Deed of cross guarantee 
  
Salmat Limited and the following controlled en��es are par�es to a deed of cross guarantee under which each Company                   
guarantees the debts of the others.  
 

•      Salmat MediaForce Pty Limited 
•      Salmat Digital Pty Limited 
•      Salmat MSI Pty Limited 
•      Salmat Interna�onal Pty Limited 

 
By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned en��es have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report                   
and Directors’ report under ASIC Corpora�ons (wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 issued by ASIC. 
  
The above companies represent a 'closed group' for the purposes of the Class Order. Set out below is a consolidated income                     
statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings for the year ended 30 June 2019 of the Closed                    
Group. 
 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
Consolidated income statement   
Loss before income tax (13,413) (59,247) 
Income tax expense (2,227) (3,577) 
Loss a�er tax (15,640) (62,824) 
Loss for the year (15,640) (62,824) 
   
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income   
Loss for the year (15,640) (62,824) 
Other comprehensive income - - 
Exchange differences on transla�on of foreign opera�ons (1,594) (1,542) 
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (1,594) (1,542) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year (17,234) (64,366) 
   
Summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings   
Retained earnings at the beginning of the financial year (67,600) 13,191 
Loss for the year (15,640) (62,824) 
Change in accoun�ng policy - adop�on of AASB15 162 - 
Dividends provided for or paid (5,960) (17,967) 
Retained earnings at the end of the financial year (89,038) (67,600) 
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Set out below is a consolidated statement of financial posi�on as at 30 June 2019 of the Closed Group. 
 
 2019 2018 
 $'000 $'000 
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 32,752 62,244 
Trade and other receivables 19,277 21,217 
Net intercompany receivables outside the Closed group 17,526 - 
Other current assets 2,441 3,611 
Total current assets 71,996 87,072 
   
Non-current assets   
Receivables 5,924 6,824 
Investments 34,967 59,306 
Property, plant and equipment 2,098 2,754 
Deferred tax assets 7,119 9,334 
Intangible assets 7,382 7,063 
Total non-current assets 57,490 85,281 
   
Total assets 129,486 172,353 
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 18,699 44,684 
Net intercompany payables outside the Closed group 8,423 669 
Borrowings 634 642 
Provisions 2,672 3,160 
Total current liabilities 30,428 49,155 
   
Non-current liabilities   
Other financial liabili�es 174 383 
Provisions 1,384 1,967 
Total non-current liabilities 1,558 2,350 
   
Total liabilities 31,986 51,505 
   
Net assets 97,500 120,848 
   
Equity   
Contributed equity 226,499 226,570 
Reserves (39,961) (38,122) 
Retained Earnings (89,038) (67,600) 
Total equity 97,500 120,848 
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6.5 Corporate information and Other significant accounting policies 
 
a) Corporate Information 

  
The financial report of Salmat Limited and the en��es it controlled for the year ended 30 June 2019 was authorised for                     
issue in accordance with a resolu�on of the Directors on 27 August 2019. 
  
Salmat Limited (the ul�mate parent) is a Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, whose                 
shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securi�es Exchange. 
  
Registered Office 
Level 2, 116 Miller Street 
North Sydney NSW 2060 
  
The nature of the opera�ons and principal ac�vi�es of the Group are described in the Directors’ report. 
  
b) Basis of preparation 
  
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accoun�ng Standards, other               
authorita�ve pronouncements of the Australian Accoun�ng Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Salmat              
Limited is a for ‑ profit en�ty for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.  
  
The financial report has been prepared on a historical costs basis except for financial assets and liabili�es (including                  
deriva�ve financial instruments) and re�rement benefit obliga�ons which are held at fair value. 
 

c) Compliance with IFRS 
 

The financial report complies with Australian Accoun�ng Standards as issued by the Australian Accoun�ng Standards 
Board and Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng Standards (IFRS) as issued by the Interna�onal Accoun�ng Standards Board. 
 
d) Rounding of amounts 

  

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corpora�ons (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191,                 
issued by the Australian Securi�es and Investments Commission, rela�ng to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the financial                  
report. Amounts in the financial report have been rounded off in accordance with ASIC Corpora�ons (Rounding in                 
Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 
  
e) Comparative amounts 

  
The Group has reclassified certain prior year compara�ves to align presenta�on with the current year. 
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6.6 Events occurring after the reporting period 
  
No ma�er or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:  
a. the Group's opera�ons in future financial years, or 
b. the results of those opera�ons in future financial years, or 
c. the Group's state of affairs in future financial years. 

 
 
 

 

6.7 Reconciliation of (loss)/profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities 

  
  Consolidated 

  2019 2018 
  $'000 $'000 

  
(Loss)/Profit for the year  (27,790) 29,855 
Deprecia�on and amor�sa�on  4,797 11,665 
Non-cash impairment  32,545 15,300 
Non-cash Impairment of investment in joint venture  2,711 - 
Non-cash financing costs  81 104 
Non-cash financing income  (104) (118) 
Interest revenue  (742) (453) 
Finance costs  19 884 
Non-cash employee benefits  (130) 145 
Non-cash re�rement benefits  290 (158) 
Net loss on sale of non-current assets  142 72 
Sale of business  187 (51,848) 
Share of net loss/(profit) of joint venture  797 (359) 
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from purchase of 

controlled entities   
Decrease in trade and other receivables  2,572 6,582 
Decrease in other assets  562 515 
Decrease in receivables and other non current assets  1,059 624 
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables  382 (4,613) 
Increase/(Decrease) in provision for income taxes payable  25 (219) 
Decrease in provision for deferred income tax  1,919 3,067 
(Decrease)/Increase in other provisions  (2,520) 1,525 
Net cash inflow from operating activities  16,802 12,570 
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Directors’ Declara�on 
30 June 2019 
 
  
In the Directors' opinion: 
 
a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 26 to 73 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 ,                    

including: 
(i) complying with Accoun�ng Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional            

repor�ng requirements, and 
(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated en�ty's financial posi�on as at 30 June 2019 and of its performance                     

for the financial year ended on that date, and 
  
b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due                      

and payable, and 
  
c) at the date of this declara�on, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the extended closed                   

group iden�fied in note 6.4 will be able to meet any obliga�ons or liabili�es to which they are, or may become, subject                      
by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in note 6.4. 

  
Note 6.5(c) confirms that the financial statements also comply with Interna�onal Financial Repor�ng Standards as issued                
by the Interna�onal Accoun�ng Standards Board. 
  
The Directors have been given the declara�ons by the Chief Execu�ve Officer and the Chief Financial Officer as required by                    
sec�on 295A of the  Corporations Act 2001 . 
  
This declara�on is made in accordance with a resolu�on of the Directors. 
 
 

 
 

 
Peter Ma�ck  
Chairman  
  
  
  
Sydney 
27 August 2019 
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Indep endent quditor's r ep ort
To the members of Salmat Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report

Our opinion
In our opinion:

The accompanying financial report of Salmat Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities
(together the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2oor, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June zorg and of its
financial performance for the year then ended

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations zoot

Whottaehaue a,udited
The Group financial report comprises:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June zorg
. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended
r the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
r the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant

accounting policies

r thedirectors'declaration.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Audrro r's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
report section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Ind.ependence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the
Corporations Act zoot and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board's APES rro Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountanrs (the Code) that are relevant
to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

PricetoaterhouseCoopers, ABN gz 78o 4gg 757
One InternationalTowers Sydney,Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 265o, SYDNEY NSW zoot
T: +6t z 8266 oooo, F: +6t z 8266 9999,tDwwpwc.com.au
Leuel tt, tPSQ, t6g Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW zt5o, PO Box tt55 Parramatta NSW ztz4
T: +6t z 9699 2476, F: +6t z 8266 g9g9,tuu)w.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Our audit approach

An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis ofthe financial report.

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates.

Materialitg Keg audit
m(lfters

Audit seope

Audit scopeMo.terialitg

For the purpose of our audit we used overall
Group materiality of $o.46 million, which
represents approximately z.S% of the Group's
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation of continuing operations
('EBITDA'), adjusted for the impact of unusual or
infrequently occurring items (as described
below).

We applied this threshold, together with
qualitative considerations, to determine the scope
of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of
our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of
misstatements on the financial report as a whole.

We chose Group EBITDAbecause, in ourview, it
is the benchmark against which the performance
of the Group is most commonly measured, and is
not as volatile as other profit and loss measures.
We adjusted for the impact of the impairment
recognised on the Marketing Solutions cash
generating unit of $32.5m, as this was an
infrequently occurring item impacting the
Group's EBITDA.

We utilised a z.5o/o threshold based on our
professional judgement, noting it is within the
range of commonly acceptable thresholds.

Our audit focused on where the Group made
subjective judgements; for example, significant
accounting estimates involving assumptions and
inherently uncertain future events.

As described in the Directors'report, the Group's
main trading activities are marketing services for
its customers in the Australasian marketplace.
The Group's accounting processes are managed
by a finance function in Sydney, where we
predominantly performed our audit procedures.
The Group audit team performed an audit in
respect of the Group's operations in Australia and
New Zealand. Acting under our instruction,
component auditors performed an audit over the
Microsourcing business in the Philippines.

The audit team included specialists and experts
on information technology, valuations and tax.

a

a

a

a

a
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a
particular audit procedure is made in that context. We communicated the key audit matters to the
Audit and Risk Committee.

How otn, oudit <tddt,essedthekeg audit
motter'

Keg auditmsttet

Valuqtion of g oodwill in the Marketing
Solutrons [$NiI] o:nd Managed Serwices

[$tq.zm] Cssh Genersting Units ('CGUs')
(Refer to note e.S)

The Group prepared a discounted cash flow model
for each CGU (the models) to estimate the
recoverable amount for both CGUs. In undertaking
the impairment testing, the Group made a number of
assumptions in the models that are subjective and
judgmental. This is a key audit matter because of the
magnitude of the balance and the judgements made
by the Group when estimating the recoverable
amount of the CGU.

An impairment of $3z.Sm was recognised during the
year in relation to the goodwill within the Marketing
Solutions CGU. Prior to the impairment assessment,

the goodwill had a carrying value of g3z.5m.

The discounted cash flow model for the Managed
Services CGU calculated a recoverable amount above

the carrying value and no impairment was

recognised during the year in relation to goodwill for
this CGU.

The key assumptions and related disclosures are
included in note 2.5 ofthe financial report and
include revenue forecasts, long-term growth rates
and the discount rate used to discount the estimated
cash flows.

We performed the following procedures amongst
others:

We evaluated the Group's cash flow forecasts
included in the discounted cash flow models to
assess the carrying value of the Marketing
Solutions and Managed Services CGUs and the
process by which they were developed.

We, with the assistance of PwC valuation experts,
tested the methodology supporting the Group's
models by:
- Considering whether the cash flows were

based on supportable assumptions, by
comparing these to the historical
performance, forecasts in FYzo budgets and
other evidence including industry
information.

- Comparing the long term market growth
assumptions to a sample of external
Australian market data, overlaid with our
consideration ofthe historic trends in the
CGUs.

- Assessing the discount rate used in the
model, which included a review of the
calculation methodology and assessment of
inputs.

- Considering the sensitivity of the models to
changes in key assumptions by applying
other values within a range that we assessed
as being reasonably possible.

a

a
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Recoverability of deferred tax asset [$4.8m] 

for unused tax losses [$16m]  

(Refer to note 1.5) 

 
The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of 
$4.8m for unused tax losses of $16m. In addition, 
there are further unused tax losses of $51.4m with a 
potential benefit of $15.4m in respect of which a 
deferred tax asset has not been recognised. In order 
to assess the recoverability of the deferred tax asset, 
the Group exercised judgement in estimating future 
taxable income using historical trends and budget 
information. 
 
This is a key audit matter due to the history of tax 
losses incurred by the Group in the past three years, 
the magnitude of the balance and the judgements 
made by the Group when estimating future taxable 
income and the extent to which recoverability of the 
available tax losses is probable.  
 
The Group concluded that it is probable that the 
recognised tax losses are recoverable based on 
expected future taxable income.   
 

 

 
We performed the following procedures, amongst 
others: 
 

 We tested the Group’s estimate of future taxable 
income by: 
̵ Evaluating the historical accuracy of the 

Group’s budget information by comparing 
Board approved budgets with reported 
actuals for the past year. 

̵ Testing the FY19 statement of taxable 
income. This included comparing data used 
in the statement to source documentation, 
testing the mathematical accuracy of the 
statement and performing recalculations. 

̵ Considering historical trends and 
developing an understanding of the main 
drivers behind tax losses incurred in current 
and previous years. This included evaluating 
whether the main drivers of the tax losses 
over the last 3 years are likely to recur in 
future years. 

̵ Evaluating the Group's assessment of future 
profits based on current market and 
economic conditions, and an estimate of 
future market and economic conditions, to 
assess the extent to which recoverability of 
the available tax losses is probable.  

  

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2019, but does not include the 
financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditor's report, the other 
information we obtained included the Directors’ report. We expect the remaining other information to 
be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not, 
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our 
professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
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financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability ofthe Group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonablybe expected to influence the economic
decisions ofusers taken on the basis ofthe financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors-responsibilities/arr.pdf. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

Report on the remttnerqtion report

Our opinion on the remunerationreport
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 13 to 23 of the directors' report for the
year ended 3o June zor9.

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Salmat Limited for the year ended 3o June zorg complies
with section 3ooA of the Corporations Act zoot.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
remuneration report in accordance with section 3ooA of the Corporations Act zoot . Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with

Auditing Standards.

Sydney
27 August 2019

Hayes
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